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MFEC PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2016
1.
GENERAL INFORMATION

(a)     
Legal status and address       



MFEC Public Company Limited is a public company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. 


                  
The address of its registered office is as follows :                   


                        
699 Modernform Tower, Srinakarind Road, Suan Luang, Bangkok.


(b)    
Nature of the Company’s business

Its principal activities are sales of computer, computer system, system implementation, maintenance service program development and provision of related services.
2.
PRINCIPLES OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATIONS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MFEC Public Company Limited and the following subsidiaries which are owned directly and indirectly by the Company.

	
	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015
	
	

	
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	

	
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	Shareholding
	
	capital
	
	

	Company’s name
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	Principal activities

	Subsidiaries held by the Company
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Promptnow Company Limited
	
	
-
	
	
-
	
	60.00
	
	15.00
	
	Creates entertainment media for electronics devices

	Advance Intelligence Modernity 
	
	60.00
	
	10.00
	
	60.00
	
	10.00
	
	Development and sale of computer software, 

	  Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	particularly entertainment media

	Modernform Integration Services 
	
	99.99
	
	64.10
	
	99.99
	
	64.10
	
	Sale of computer and provision of related services

	  Company Limited (***)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	(***) Subsidiaries held by Modernform Integration Services Company Limited
	
	

	M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	80.00
	
	5.00
	
	80.00
	
	5.00
	
	Personnel recruitment and IT system maintenance 

	Business Applications Company Limited
	99.99
	
	10.00
	
	99.99
	
	10.00
	
	Selling and developing computer programs, including the relevant services.

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	99.99
	
	80.00
	
	99.99
	
	80.00
	
	Being a consultant for designing the network systems and developing computer programs.

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems and developing computer programs.

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	Principally engaged in the software business and received the investment promotion.

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems and computer programming.

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems, computer programming, model development and website designing services.


	
	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015
	
	

	
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	Percentage of
	
	Paid-up
	
	

	
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	shareholding
	
	capital
	
	

	Company’s name
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	(%)
	
	(Million Baht)
	
	Principal activities

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	3.00
	
	99.99
	
	3.00
	
	Principally engaged in the software business and received the investment promotion.

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited (***)
	99.99
	
	30.00
	
	99.99
	
	30.00
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems, computer programming and selling the computer equipment.

	(***) Subsidiaries held by Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Khonkaen Softtech Company Limited
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	99.99
	
	5.00
	
	Providing the consulting services, designing the working systems, computer programming and data processing services by computer.

	Playtorium Soultions Company Limited
	
	70.00
	
	1.25
	
	
-
	
	
-
	
	Consulting, system design and development of information system and personnel recruiting to work in the projects.


Significant change in the subsidiaries in during year 2016
1) 
On May 12, 2016, the Company has sold partial ordinary shares held in Promptnow Co.,Ltd. for 40 percent of the total ordinary shares of Promptnow.  As a result, the Company’s shareholding stake in Promptnow Co.,Ltd. is 20 percent of the total ordinary shares of Promptnow. After the sale of these shares, the Company has lost controlling power due to the change of Promptnow status from formerly as a subsidiary to an associated company of the Company. Therefore, the Company has prepared the consolidated financial statements by consolidating Promptnow’s financial statements for the period from January 1, 2016 to May 12, 2016.  After such date, the Company has prepared the consolidated financial statements that present investments in associate Promptnow by the equity method.    

2)
According to the resolution of the Board of Directos’ Meeting No.9/2016 heldon December 6, 2016, it was approved to invest in Playtorium Soultions Company Limited which was established on December 15, 2016 with the registered capital of Baht 5 million. The Company has the shareholding proportion 70% of the total ordinary shares of Playtorium Soultions Company Limited.
2.2  
The percentage of total assets and total revenues of the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

	
	Percentage of total 
	
	Percentage of total revenues included

	
	assets included
	
	in consolidated the statements of

	
	in consolidated the statements
	
	comprehensive income for

	
	of financial position as at
	
	the year ended

	
	December
	
	December
	
	December
	
	December

	
	31, 2016
	
	31, 2015
	
	31, 2016
	
	31, 2015

	Subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Promptnow Company Limited
	-
	
	2.66
	
	0.25
	
	1.96

	Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	0.11
	
	0.07
	
	0.13
	
	0.02

	Modernform Integration Services Company Limited
	2.04
	
	1.71
	
	0.74
	
	0.99

	Business Applications Company Limited
	2.56
	
	2.52
	
	3.74
	
	4.05

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	5.23
	
	4.55
	
	6.95
	
	2.87

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	0.23
	
	0.14
	
	0.05
	
	-

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	0.41
	
	0.72
	
	0.22
	
	0.59

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	0.02
	
	0.15
	
	-
	
	-

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	0.12
	
	0.21
	
	-
	
	-

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	0.16
	
	0.19
	
	0.03
	
	0.03

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	2.87
	
	2.61
	
	2.15
	
	2.25

	Subsidiaries held by Modernform Integration Services 

Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	

	M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	1.90
	
	1.47
	
	3.22
	
	2.19

	Subsidiaries held by Soft Square 1999 

Company Limited
	
	
	
	

	Khonkaen Softtech Company Limited
	0.36
	
	0.49
	
	0.20
	
	0.38

	Playtorium Soultions Company Limited
	0.04
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-


2.3
The Company is deemed to have control over an investee or subsidiaries if it has rights, or is exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and it has the ability to direct the activities that affect the amount of its returns.
2.4
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by using uniform accounting policies. So that the transaction and the others event which are the same or the similar circumstances have been used the identical policies to record those transaction.

2.5
Outstanding balances between the Company and the subsidiaries, significant intercompany transactions, investment balance in the Company’s books and share capital of the subsidiaries are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

2.6
Investments in subsidiaries (at cost) and fair value of the subsidiaries at the date of acquisition have been offset and the difference there of has been shown as asset under the heading of “Goodwill” and to consider impairment loss.

2.7
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated as from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control.
2.8
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the consolidated profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3.
BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

3.1
Basis for preparation of the financial statements




The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting standards prescribed by Thai Accounts Act enunciated under the Accounting Profession Act B.E.2547 by complying with the financial reporting standards. The presentation of the financial statements has been made in compliance with the Notification of the Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce, re : the financial statements presentation for public limited company, issued under the Accounting Act B.E.2543.




The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies. 




The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The financial statements in English language have been translated from such financial statements in Thai language.

  
3.2   
The new and revised accounting standards are effective in the current year



The Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) has issued Notifications to mandate the new and revised accounting standards, financial reporting standards, and interpretations of accounting and financial reporting standards, which are effective for the fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2016 are as follows:

	TAS 1 (revised 2015)
	Presentation of Financial Statements

	TAS 2 (revised 2015)
	Inventories

	TAS 7 (revised 2015)
	Statement of Cash Flows

	TAS 8 (revised 2015)
	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

	TAS 10 (revised 2015)
	Events After the Reporting Period

	TAS 11 (revised 2015)
	Construction Contracts

	TAS 12 (revised 2015)
	Income Taxes

	TAS 16 (revised 2015)
	Property, Plant and Equipment

	TAS 17 (revised 2015)
	Leases

	TAS 18 (revised 2015)
	Revenue

	TAS 19 (revised 2015)
	Employee Benefits

	TAS 20 (revised 2015)
	Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance

	TAS 21 (revised 2015)
	The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

	TAS 23 (revised 2015)
	Borrowing Costs

	TAS 24 (revised 2015)
	Related Party Disclosures

	TAS 26 (revised 2015)
	Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

	TAS 27 (revised 2015)
	Separate Financial Statements

	TAS 28 (revised 2015)
	Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

	TAS 29 (revised 2015)
	Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

	TAS 33 (revised 2015)
	Earnings Per Share

	TAS 34 (revised 2015)
	Interim Financial Reporting

	TAS 36 (revised 2015)
	Impairment of Assets

	TAS 37 (revised 2015)
	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

	TAS 38 (revised 2015)
	Intangible assets

	TAS 40 (revised 2015)
	Investment Property

	TAS 41
	Agriculture

	TFRS 2 (revised 2015)
	Share-Based Payment

	TFRS 3 (revised 2015)
	Business Combinations

	TFRS 4 (revised 2015)
	Insurance Contracts

	TFRS 5 (revised 2015)
	Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

	TFRS 6 (revised 2015)
	Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

	TFRS 8 (revised 2015)
	Operating Segments

	TFRS 10 (revised 2015)
	Consolidated Financial Statements

	TFRS 11 (revised 2015)
	Joint Arrangements

	TFRS 12 (revised 2015)
	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

	TFRS 13 (revised 2015)
	Fair Value Measurement

	TSIC 10 (revised 2015)
	Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities

	TSIC 15 (revised 2015)
	Operating Leases - Incentives

	TSIC 25 (revised 2015)
	Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders

	TSIC 27 (revised 2015)
	Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease

	TSIC 29 (revised 2015)
	Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosure

	TSIC 31 (revised 2015)
	Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

	TSIC 32 (revised 2015)
	Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs

	TFRIC 1 (revised 2015)
	Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities

	TFRIC 4 (revised 2015)
	Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

	TFRIC 5 (revised 2015)
	Right to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

	TFRIC 7 (revised 2015)
	Applying the Restatement Approach under TAS 29 (revised 2015) Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics

	TFRIC 10 (revised 2015)
	Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

	TFRIC 12 (revised 2015)
	Service Concession Arrangements

	TFRIC 13 (revised 2015)
	Customer Loyalty Programmes

	TFRIC 14 (revised 2015)
	TAS 19 (revised 2015)-The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

	TFRIC 15 (revised 2015)
	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

	TFRIC 17 (revised 2015)
	Distributions of Non - cash Assets to Owners

	TFRIC 18 (revised 2015)
	Transfers of Assets from Customers

	TFRIC 20 (revised 2015)
	Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

	TFRIC 21 
	Levies


       
The management of the Company and its subsidiaries evaluated that these new and revised  accounting standards, financial reporting standard, accounting standard interpretations and financial reporting standards interpretations do not have any significant impact on the financial statements in current year.
4.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES
4.1
Revenue and expense recognition

Revenues from sales


Revenues from sales are recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been passed to the buyer.  Revenues from sales are presented by the value of goods which are delivered after deducting trade discounts in accordance with prices shown on the invoice exclusive of VAT. 



Revenues from service 


Revenues from service for the system implementation and contract develop system are recognized when the service has been rendered on the basis of percentage of completion. The revenue from unbilled service which has already been rendered is presented under the caption of “Unbilled receivable” in the statement of financial position. The revenue received before it is earned or before service is rendered is presented as “Deferred income” in the statement of financial position.

The revenue from providing equipment maintenance service is recognized by the period of service in the service agreement using the straight line method.


Revenue of service contract other is recognized when the service.


Cost of service


Cost of service is recognized when the service has been rendered in accordance with the percentage of work completed based on the total estimated costs. The difference between the estimated costs and the actual costs are recognized as “cost of woks in process” and “unbilled payable” in the statement of financial position.


A loss provision for the project is provided in full when it is certain that the project will incur loss.

Interest income


Interest income is recognized as income on the accrual basis based on the effective rate method.

Dividends


Dividends are recognized as income when having the rights to receive the dividends. 

Other income and other expenses




Other income and other expenses are recognized on an accrual basis.

4.2
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, cash at bank, and highly liquid short-term investment with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.


4.3
Trade accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful 




Trade accounts receivable are stated at the net realizable value. Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for the estimated losses that may be incurred in the collection of receivables. This allowance is generally based on individual collection experience and analysis of debtor aging.


4.4
Costs of works in process



Costs of works in process is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, the cost by specific method. Cost consists of cost of goods, materials, cost of labor, cost of subcontract work and other related expenses.



The cost of purchase comprises both the purchase price and costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the goods, such as import duties, transportation charges and other direct costs incurred in acquiring the goods less all trade discounts, allowances or rebates.  



The net realizable value of costs of works in process is estimated from the selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete production and the estimated costs to complete the delivery.


Finished goods



Finished goods are valued at the lower of cost (specifically and average method) or net realizable value. Allowance for obsolete inventories is made for slow-moving and obsolete stocks. 




The cost of purchase comprises both the purchase price and costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the inventory, such as import duties, transportation charges and other direct costs incurred in acquiring the inventories less all trade discounts, allowances or rebates.  




The net realizable value of inventory is estimated from the selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete the sale.


4.5
Investment in associates




Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 




Investments in associates are stated at cost net from allowance on decline in value (if any).


4.6
Investment in subsidiaries



Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the power to control their financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date the Company exercises control over the subsidiaries until the date that control power ceases.



Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost net from allowance on impairment (if any) in the separate financial statements. The Company recognizes gain or loss on sale in the statement of income in the period which sale of investment occurred.  In the case of impairment on investment,   the Company will recognize loss from impairment of investment as expense in the statement of comprehensive income. The Company recognizes dividends receive when the subsidiaries announce paid dividends.


4.7
Goodwill



Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of investment over the fair value of investment, which the Company shares in the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary is presented as a separate line in the consolidated financial statement. Goodwill on acquisition of an associate is included in investments in associates and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.



The goodwill recognized is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The impairment of goodwill is determined by calculating the realizable value based on the value-in-use calculation or fair value less costs to sell. Such calculation requires the use of estimates made by management. The allowance for impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.   



As for the cost of acquiring an investment that is lower than the fair value of the share of net assets of the subsidiary, the difference is negative goodwill and will be recognized immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

4.8
Investments in debt securities and marketable equity securities 


  
 

1.  Investments in securities held for trading are stated at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these securities are recorded as gains or losses in the statements of comprehensive income. 


  
 

2.  Investments in available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value. Changes in the fair value of these securities are recorded as a separate item in shareholder’s equity, and will be recorded as gains or losses in the statement of comprehensive income when the securities are sold. 

   


3.  Investments in debt securities held to maturity are recorded at amortized cost by the effective rate method with the amortized amount presented as an adjustment to the interest income.



     

The fair value of marketable securities is based on the latest bid price of the last working day of the year. The fair value of debt instruments is determined based on yield rates quoted by the Thai Bond Market Association. The fair value of unit trusts is determined from their net asset value. 


4.9
General investments               





Investments in non-marketable equity securities are general investments, which are stated at cost net from allowance on impairment (if any). 

                  
The Company records the loss on impairment (if any) of these investments in the statement of comprehensive income.

              

On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net proceeds and the book value of the investment is recognized as income or expense in the statement of comprehensive income. If partial investments are sold, the book value of the investment is determined by the weighted average method.

4.10
Properly, plantand equipment and depreciation


Land is stated at cost. Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and allowance on impairment (if any).


Cost is initially recognized upon acquisition of assets along with other direct costs attributing to acquiring such assets in the condition ready to serve the objectives, including the costs of asset demolition, removal and restoration of the asset location, which are the obligations of the company. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by cost less residual value on the straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

	Building
	50  years

	Leasehelod improvements
	5  years

	Office furniture
	5  years

	Tools and office equipment
	3 - 5  years

	Equipment and software project
	5  years

	Motor vehicles
	5  years





The Company has reviewed the residual value and useful life of the assets every year. 

The depreciation for each asset component is calculated on the separate components when each component has significant cost compared to the total cost of that asset.



Depreciation is included in determining income.



No depreciation is provided on land, construction in progress and equipment under installation.

Property, plant and equipment are written off at disposal. Gains or losses arising from sale or write-off of assets are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

4.11
Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company with finite useful lives are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and allowance on impairment (if any). 

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable cost necessary to create, produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Intangible assets are amortized in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:





Computer software

5
years





Deferred System software of the project

5
years





Cost of research and development

3-5
years





Software games download

3-6
years

The useful lives are reviewed by the Company every year.

The amortization is included in the determination of income.

Research expenditure is recognized as expense when incurred. Intangible assets involved in new product and service design and development are recognized as assets when it is probable about the success of the project as well as feasible in terms of commerce and technology. Other development expenditure is recognized as expense when incurred.

4.12
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributed to the acquisition or construction of an asset that necessarily takes long time to put in ready to use or available for sale state are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset until that asset condition is ready for its intended use. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs arising from such borrowing.


4.13
Related party transactions
Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under common control with, the company, including holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the company. Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the company that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of the company and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.


4.14
Operating Lease
Lease of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Leases payments under an operating lease are recognized as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term. 


4.15
Financial leases



The Company and its subsidiaries record assets under finance leases as assets and liabilities at the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased assets at the inception of the lease or the present value of the minimum lease payments, whichever is lower. In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the discount factor used is the interest rate implicit in the lease agreements. The interest charge is recorded to the different periods over the entire lease term based on the remaining balance of payable under financial lease agreement in each period.


4.16
Foreign currencies



Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the rates ruling on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency outstanding at the statement of financial position date are translated into Baht at the rates ruling on the statement of financial date.





Exchange gains and losses are included in determining earnings.   


4.17
Impairment of assets

As at the statement of financial position date, the Company assesses whether there is an indication of asset impairment. If any such indication exists, the Company will make an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. In addition, impairment loss is reversed if there is a subsequent increase in the recoverable amount. The reversal shall not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined net of accumulated depreciation or amortization. The recoverable amount of the asset is the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell. In determing fair value costs to sell, an approvpriate valuation model is used. These calculatios are corroborated by a valuation model that, baded on information avaliable, reflects the amount that the Company could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transections between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal.

4.18
Employee benefits

Short-term employment benefits



The Company recognizes salary, wage, bonus and contributions to social security fund and provident fund as expenses when incurred.


Post-employment benefits (Defined contribution plans)

 

The Company and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly contributed by employees and by the Company. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Company’s contributions are recognized as expenses when incurred.



Post-employment benefits (Defined benefit plans) 



The Company has obligations in respect of the severance payments that it must pay to the employees upon retirement under the labor law and other employee benefit plans. The Company treats these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan. 



The obligation under the defined benefit plan is calculated based on the actuarial principles by a qualified independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. Such estimates are made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, staff turnover rate, mortality rate, and inflation rate.



Actuarial gains and losses for post-employment benefits of the employees are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income.

4.19
Income tax


Income tax



Income tax comprises current income tax and deferred tax. 


Current tax


The Company and two subsidiaries records income tax expense, if any, based on the amount currently payable under the Revenue Code at the income tax rates (year 2016, year 2015 : 20%) of net profit before income tax, after adding back certain expenses which are non-deductible for income tax computation purposes, and less certain transactions which are exemption or allowable from income tax. And less certain transactions which are exemption or allowable from income tax and the Company and two subsidiaries is exempted from corporate income tax on net profit of investment.



The five subsidiaries records income tax expense, if any, based on the amount currently payable under the Revenue Code at the income tax rates (year 2016, year 2015 : 20%) of net profit before income tax, after adding back certain expenses which are non-deductible for income tax computation purposes, and less certain transactions which are exemption or allowable from income tax.



The six subsidiaries records income tax expense, if any, based on the amount currently payable under the Revenue Code. Income tax is calculated at the tax rates from net profit before income tax, after adding back certain expenses which are non-deductible for income tax computation purposes, and less certain transactions which are exemption or allowable from income tax. And less certain transactions which are exemption or allowable from income tax and the subsidiaries is exempted from corporate income tax on net profit of investment. Income tax is calculated at the rates as follows.

	
	Tax rate

	Net profit before income tax (Baht)
	2016
	
	2015

	1 - 300,000
	0%
	
	0%

	300,001 - 3,000,000
	10%
	
	10%

	More than 3000,000
	10%
	
	10%




Deferred tax


Deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided on the temporary differences between the carrying amount and the tax bases of assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized as deferred tax income or deferred tax expense which are recognized in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity or in other comprehensive income.


The deductible temporary differences are recognized as deferred tax assets when it is probable that the Company will have future taxable profit to be available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. The taxable temporary differences on all taxable items are recognized as deferred tax liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that the Company and its subsidiaries expect to apply to the period when the deferred tax assets are realized or the deferred tax liabilities are settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.


At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed and reduced the value when it is probable that the Company will have no longer the future taxable profit that is sufficient to be available against which all or some parts of deferred tax assets are utilized.


Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is the legal right to settle on a net basis and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity.

4.20
Forward exchange contracts



Receivables and payables arising from forward exchange contracts are translated into Baht at the rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet. Gains and losses from the translation are included in determining the statement of comprehensive income. Premiums or discounts on forward exchange contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement.


4.21
Provision


A liability provision is recognized when there is a present obligation which arises as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.


4.22
Use of accounting estimates

Preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances, affecting the amounts reported in these financial statements and related notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4.23
Earnings per share


Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares which are issued during the year and held by outside party. 



Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing profit for the year by the aggregate amount of weighted average number of ordinary shares which are issued during the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares which the Company may have to issue for conversion  of warrants to ordinary shares.


4.24
Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times requires management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgements and estimates affect amounts reported in the financial statements and disclosures and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant judgements and estimates are as follows:

Allowance for doubtful accounts


In determining an allowance for doubtful accounts, the management needs to make judgement and estimates based upon, among other things, past collection history, aging profile of outstanding debts and the prevailing economic condition. 

Leases 


In determining whether a lease is to be classified as an operating lease or finance lease, the management is required to use judgement  in evaluating the conditions and details of the agreement whether significant risk and rewards of ownership of the leased asset has been transferred.

Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation


In determining depreciation of plant and equipment, the management is required to make estimates of the useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review the estimated useful lives and residual values when there are any changes. 

In addition, the management is required to review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a periodical basis and record the impairment loss when it is determined that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. This requires judgement regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.

Intangible assets


In recording the initial recognition and measurement of intangible assets as at the acquired date and subsequent impairment testing, This requires judgement regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.

Goodwill 


In recording the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill as at the acquired date and subsequent impairment testing, the management to make estimates of cash flows to be generated by the asset or the cash generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows and fair value less costs to sell

Deferred tax assets


Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and losses can be utilized. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of estimated future taxable profits. 

Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans 


The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined based on actuarial techniques. Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff turnover rate.

Litigation 


The Company has contingent liabilities as a result of litigation. The management has displayed judgement to assess the results of the litigation and believed that no loss will result. Therefore, no contingent liabilities are recorded as at the end of the reporting period. 

Estimated fines from delay delivery 


The Company has the provisions that arise from claiming for damages of the delay delivery computer software system development. The management uses judgment to estimate the fines according to contract and takes into account the duration of the delay occurred. It ensures that there will be damage occurs on the estimated fines from delay delivery untie recorded on such provisions as at the date in financial statements. However, the actual results may differ from the estimates provided.

5.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS


During the year, the Company had significant business transactions with its subsidiaries (which have already been eliminated in the preparation of interim consolidated financial statements) and related companies (related by ways of common shareholders and/or common directors). These transactions follow the trade terms and rules agreed between the Company and those companies in the normal course of business.  



Detail of relation between the Company and its related parties and companies are summarized as follow:

	Company’s name
	
	Country of incorporation
	
	Type of relation

	Promptnow Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary from May 12, 2016 the status of such company changed  from the subsidiary to the associate company  with 20% shareholding

	Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Modernform Integration Services Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary held  by Modernform Integraion Service Company Limited

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Business Applications Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Khonkaen Softtech Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary held by Soft Square 1999 Company Limited

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	Playtorium Soultions Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Subsidiary

	TIS Inc.
	
	Japan
	
	Shareholders and co-directors

	Panjaluck Pasuk Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	Shareholders and co-directors

	Angstrom Solutions Company Limited
	
	Thailand
	
	An associate company with 40% shareholding by the Company




Significant transaction with related companies for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, as follows:

	
	Million Baht
	

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement
	
	

	
	For the years ended 

December 31,
	
	For the years ended 

December 31,
	
	Pricing policy

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	

	Transactions with subsidiaries: 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	-
	
	-
	
	57.72
	
	17.63
	
	Close to market price

	   
Purchases of goods and services
	-
	
	-
	
	10.83
	
	9.33
	
	Close to market price

	
Purchases of office equipment
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	0.54
	
	Close to market price

	   
Guarantee fee income
	-
	
	-
	
	0.03
	
	0.03
	
	1 percent per annum

	   
Interest income
	-
	
	-
	
	0.51
	
	0.94
	
	MLR-1.50% per annum

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2016 : 5.00 - 5.25 percent per annum)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2015 : 5.00 - 5.25 percent per annum)

	
Dividend
	-
	
	-
	
	35.13
	
	62.27
	
	As announced

	Transactions with associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	7.28
	
	7.00
	
	7.28
	
	7.00
	
	Close to market price

	   
Interest income
	0.03
	
	0.14
	
	0.03
	
	0.14
	
	MLR-1.50% per annum

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2016 : 4.75 percent per annum) 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2015 : 5.00 - 5.125 percent per annum) 

	
Rental and related service expenses
	0.57
	
	-
	
	0.57
	
	-
	
	Market price adjusted with agreed upon discount

	Transactions with related companies:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   
Sales of goods and services
	0.52
	
	10.44
	
	0.52
	
	9.77
	
	Close to market price

	
Purchases of office equipment
	0.02
	
	-
	
	0.02
	
	-
	
	Close to market price



The significant outstanding balances with related parties as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 as follows: 

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at 

December

31, 2016
	
	As at 

December

31, 2015
	
	As at 

December

31, 2016
	
	As at 

December

31, 2015

	Amounts due from related parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  
Promptnow Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	76,224

	
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	301,915
	
	432,687

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	7,901,950
	
	14,798,063

	
Modernform Integration Services Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	91,543
	
	97,132

	Associates Company:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Angstrom Solutions Company Limited
	-
	
	7,490,000
	
	-
	
	7,490,000

	
Promtnow Company Limitied
	42,800
	
	-
	
	42,800
	
	-

	Related Companies:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
TIS Inc.
	-
	
	2,328,996
	
	-
	
	1,764,381

	
	42,800
	
	9,818,996
	
	8,338,208
	
	24,658,487

	Short-term loans to subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	11,895,000
	
	9,895,000

	
Promtnow Company Limitied
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	4,000,000

	
	-
	
	-
	
	11,895,000
	
	13,895,000

	
Less: Reserve for loss of  investment in                                     
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
         subsidiaries  (Note 13)
	-
	
	-
	
	(11,272,876)
	
	(9,895,000)

	
	-
	
	-
	
	622,124
	
	4,000,000

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loans to related pardies
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Loans to related persons
	6,070,000
	
	6,150,000
	
	6,070,000
	
	6,150,000

	
Less : Allowance for doubtful debts
	(5,323,337)
	
	(5,403,337)
	
	(5,323,337)
	
	(5,403,337)

	

Net
	746,663
	
	746,663
	
	746,663
	
	746,663

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Long-term loans to subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	3,300,000
	
	3,300,000

	
Less : Reserve for loss of  investment in                                     
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
         subsidiaries  (Note 13)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(1,550,292)

	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,300,000
	
	1,749,708

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amounts due to related parties
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Promptnow Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,466,645

	
Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	317,790
	
	-

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,147,978

	
Modernform Integration Services Company Limited 
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	8,667

	
Business Applications Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	256,800
	
	1,203,750

	
M.I.S. Outsourching Company Limited 
	-
	
	-
	
	68,213
	
	-

	Associates Company:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Promptnow Company Limited
	69,342
	
	-
	
	69,342
	
	-

	
	69,342
	
	-
	
	712,145
	
	4,827,040


	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at 

December

31, 2016
	
	As at 

December

31, 2015
	
	As at 

December

31, 2016
	
	As at 

December

31, 2015

	Deferred income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	432,740
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Unbilled payable
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subsidiaries:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	-
	
	-
	
	842,051
	
	-




Movements of short-term loans to subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:

	
	In Baht

	
	As at December

 31, 2015
	
	Additional 

during period
	
	Repayment

during period 
	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	Type of loans
	
	Due date
	
	Interest rate

	Short-term loans to subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Advance Intelligence Modernity



Company Limited
	9,895,000
	
	2,000,000
	
	-
	
	11,895,000
	
	Promissory note
	
	At call
	
	MLR - 1.50% per annum

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Promtnow Company Limited
	4,000,000
	
	1,000,000
	
	(5,000,000)
	
	-
	
	Promissory note
	
	At call
	
	MLR - 1.50% per annum

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Long-term loans to subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Advance Intelligence Modernity
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Company Limited
	3,300,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,300,000
	
	Promissory note
	
	Jan 27, 2022
	
	MLR - 1.50% per annum




Movements of loans to related parties for the year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:

	
	In Baht

	
	As at December 

31, 2015
	
	Additional 

during year
	
	Repayment

during year
	
	Allowance for

doubtful debts
	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	Relationship 
	
	Due date

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Due within 

one year
	
	 Due more than 

one year
	
	
	
	

	Contract No. 1
	746,663
	
	
-
	
	
-
	
	
-
	
	746,663
	
	-
	
	Shareholders of 
	
	At call

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	subsidiaries
	
	

	
	746,663
	
	
-
	
	
-
	
	
-
	
	746,663
	
	-
	
	
	
	




Loans to related parties have no interest. 


Guarantee obligations with related parties               



As at December 31, 2016, the Company had outstanding obligations in respect of guarantees on the Advance Intelligence Modernity Limited (Subsidiaries) for credit line book overdraft anount Baht 3 million. 


Management benefit expenses



Management benefit expenses represents the benefits paid to the Company’s management such as salaries and related benefit including the benefit paid by other means. The Company’s 
management is the persons who are defined under the Securities and Exchange Act.



Management benefit expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the years ended December 31,
	
	For the years ended December 31,

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Management
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Management benefit expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Short-term employee benefits
	81,637,935
	
	83,455,368
	
	52,042,705
	
	51,241,455

	
Post-employment benefits
	3,028,423
	
	2,443,700
	
	2,111,950
	
	1,607,504

	

Total
	84,666,358
	
	85,899,068
	
	54,154,655
	
	52,848,959


6.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015
	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015

	Cash on hand
	254,000
	
	249,000
	
	40,000
	
	45,000

	Cash at bank - current accounts
	9,212,452
	
	2,684,928
	
	1,224,614
	
	394,154

	Cash at bank - savings accounts 
	232,424,886
	
	98,433,419
	
	164,988,475
	
	40,926,416

	Cash at bank - fixed deposit 2 - 3 months
	1,090,169
	
	1,080,843
	
	-
	
	-

	

Total
	242,981,507
	
	102,448,190
	
	166,253,089
	
	41,365,570




Savings accounts carry interest at the floating rates which are set by the bank.

7.
SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015
	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015

	Fixed deposit
	667,257
	
	5,885,180
	
	-
	
	-

	Unit trusts
	705,264,239
	
	251,229,614
	
	610,824,268
	
	172,831,518

	Add : Unrealized gain from valuation of investment
	2,546,929
	
	441,417
	
	1,846,054
	
	118,555

	Total unit trusts
	707,811,168
	
	251,671,031
	
	612,670,322
	
	172,950,073

	Net short-term investments
	708,478,425
	
	257,556,211
	
	612,670,322
	
	172,950,073


8.
TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 



The aging of outstanding trade accounts receivable balance as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 based on due date, are as follows: 

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015
	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015

	Not yet due
	425,291,428
	
	657,571,661
	
	323,149,205
	
	595,995,530

	Over due
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   Less than 3 months
	77,615,580
	
	253,153,233
	
	56,994,166
	
	226,082,531

	   3 - 6 months
	5,218,365
	
	12,743,710
	
	2,699,670
	
	3,374,245

	   6 - 12 months
	56,384,035
	
	25,080,388
	
	50,480,118
	
	22,324,688

	   More than 12 months (Note 32.4)
	48,465,566
	
	52,836,330
	
	17,725,133
	
	22,095,897

	Back to back basis
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	612,974,974
	
	1,001,385,322
	
	451,048,292
	
	869,872,891

	Less: Allowance for doubtful debts
	(17,603,772)
	
	(17,549,219)
	
	(16,647,329)
	
	(16,658,029)

	Trade accounts receivable - net
	595,371,202
	
	983,836,103
	
	434,400,963
	
	853,214,862

	Other accounts receivable
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Receivable revenue department
	32,732,469
	
	41,195,477
	
	20,977,402
	
	31,409,616

	Accrued rebate
	668,647
	
	1,772,139
	
	668,647
	
	1,772,139

	Other
	6,934,868
	
	1,807,839
	
	5,149,021
	
	1,583,403

	Total other accounts receivable
	40,335,984
	
	44,775,455
	
	26,795,070
	
	34,765,158

	Trade and other accounts receivable - net
	635,707,186
	
	1,028,611,558
	
	461,196,033
	
	887,980,020


The Company gives its general customers a credit term ranging 30-90 days and its subsidiaries give its general customers a credit term of 30 days.



The movements of the allowance for doubtful debts are as follow :

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015
	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015

	Allowance for doubtful debts - beginning
	(17,549,219)
	
	(17,581,319)
	
	(16,658,029)
	
	(16,690,129)

	     Add  Additional allowances
	(65,253)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	     Less  Reversing of allowances
	10,700
	
	32,100
	
	10,700
	
	32,100

	

 Bad debts  
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Allowance for doubtful debts - ending
	(17,603,772)
	
	(17,549,219)
	
	(16,647,329)
	
	(16,658,029)


In year 2016 and 2015, the allowance for doubtful accounds decrease due to the repayment from customers in total amount.
9.
RECEIVABLE UNDER FINANCIAL LEASE AGREEMENTS



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries have financial leasing agreements. The payment details are follows :-

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement (In Baht)

	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	4,419,736
	
	129,252
	
	4,548,988
	
	9,540,938
	
	429,880
	
	9,970,818

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	251,861
	
	7,012
	
	258,873
	
	4,331,518
	
	136,264
	
	4,467,782

	Total
	4,671,597
	
	136,264
	
	4,807,861
	
	13,872,456
	
	566,144
	
	14,438,600


	
	Separate Financial Statement (In Baht)

	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	3,396,566
	
	75,654
	
	3,472,220
	
	4,213,549
	
	293,195
	
	4,506,744

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,056,487
	
	75,653
	
	3,132,140

	Total
	3,396,566
	
	75,654
	
	3,472,220
	
	7,270,036
	
	368,848
	
	7,638,884




As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the total receivable under financial lease agreements are not yet due.


Receivable under financial lease agreements for the portion due within one year was shown under “current assets” in the statements of financial position.



As at December 31, 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries have 3 outstanding financial leasing agreements are as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	In Baht (excluded VAT)

	
	
	Outstanding financial lease agreement
	
	Type of financial lease agreement
	
	Term of payment
	
	Amount per

period


	
	Total financial 

lease amount

	The Company
	
	1
	
	Security information and Event 
	
	(36 installment)
	
	347,222.00
	
	12,499,992.00

	
	
	
	
	Management system (SIEM)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	A subsidiary
	
	2
	
	Equipment and Computers
	
	(60 installment)
	
	101,820.94
	
	6,109,256.40

	
	
	3
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	18,609,248.40


10.
COST OF WORK IN PROCESS 
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015
	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015

	Finished goods
	12,763,276
	
	12,203,477
	
	7,056,448
	
	10,187,419

	Work in process
	483,783,384
	
	526,295,281
	
	418,010,683
	
	472,956,045

	Goods in transit
	18,715,992
	
	14,823,208
	
	18,715,992
	
	14,823,208

	
Total
	515,262,652
	
	553,321,966
	
	443,783,123
	
	497,966,672

	Less: Allowance for declining value of inventories
	(7,163,508)
	
	(11,029,344)
	
	(7,056,448)
	
	(9,489,797)

	Cost of work in process 
	508,099,144
	
	542,292,622
	
	436,726,675
	
	488,476,875


As at December 31, 2016, the Company reversed the allowance for obsoleted inventories amount of Baht 2.43 million because of the management consider to write-off amount of Baht 1.87 million and transferred to property, plant and equipment amont of Baht 0.56 million. As at December 31, 2015, the allowance for declining value of inventories amount of Baht 1.03 million because of the donated amount of Baht 0.20 million and transferred to property, plant and equipment amont of Baht 0.83 million for internal use (Note 15 and 16).
11.
PLEDGED DEPOSITS AT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, fixed deposits of one subsidiaries in the amount of Baht 3.30 million and Baht 15 million, respectively. Which are pledged as collateral for bank guarantee, overdrafts and short-term loan from the financial institution. 
12
INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATED 
12.1
Investment in associated consisted of investment in share capital, as follows :
	
	Paid-up
	
	Share-
	
	In Baht

	
	capital
	
	holding
	
	Consolidated Financial Statements

	Name of company
	
	(Baht)
	
	(%)
	
	Equity method
	
	Cost method

	
	
	
	
	
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Angstrom Solutions Company Limited
	80,000,000
	
	40
	
	39,270,435
	
	27,093,496
	
	44,000,000
	
	32,000,000

	Promptnow Company Limied
	18,400,000
	
	20
	
	56,496,450
	
	
-
	
	3,680,000
	
	
-

	Total
	
	
	
	
	95,766,885
	
	27,093,496
	
	47,680,000
	
	32,000,000


	
	
	
	
	
	
	In Baht


	
	
	
	
	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statements

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Dividend

	Name of company
	
	Type of business 
	
	Relationship
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Angstrom Solutions Company Limited.
	
	Information & Communication Technology
	
	An associate company with 40% shareholding by the Company
	
	-
	
	-

	Promptnow Company Limied
	
	Creates entertainment media for electronics devices
	
	An associate company with 20% shareholding by the Company
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	-




Angstron solution Company Limited



On August 11, 2015, the Board of Directors Meeting No. 4/2015 had a resolution to approve for the Company to invest in Angstrom Solutions Company Limited which is engaged in software, hardware,  computer system consulting, development and training to design, plan and develop the software to be used with electronic equipment. The former registered capital is Baht 50 million, with an increase of capital to Baht 60 million, totaling the new registered capital of Baht 110 million. The Company will hold the shares at the same stake that is 40% of the new registered capital. The value of the share capital increase is Baht 24 million (2.4 million shares at the par value of Baht 10 per share). The advance payment of 50 percent is made and the Company paid for the shares in the amount of Baht 12 million on September 1, 2015 and the remaining amounting Baht 12 million paid on January 15, 2016.


Promptnow Company Limited


The Company has changed the status of investment in Promptnow Company Limited from the previous subsidiary that it has control to the associated company since May 12, 2016 onwards. In the separate financial statements, the Company initially recognizes the investment at cost that is remaining in the former subsidiary for 36,800 shares at Baht 100 per share, totaling Baht 3.68 million. In the consolidated financial statements, the Company has initially recognized the retained investment in the former subsidiary that it once has control at the fair value at Baht 1,467 per share in the total amount of Baht 53.98 million (as discussed in the notes to interim financial statements Note 13).     



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the investment in associated company by the equity method presented in the consolidated financial statement is calculated from the financial statements of the associated company as at December 31, 2016 which prepared by the management and as at December 31, 2015, which audited by auditor.

12.2
Share of profit of associates for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows: 

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	2016
	
	2015

	Angstrom Solutions Company Limited.
	176,938
	
	(1,700,514)

	Promptnow Company Limied
	2,510,850
	
	-

	
Total
	2,687,788
	
	(1,700,514)


12.3
Summarized financial information in respect of Associated company of the material associate:

Angstrom Solutions Company Limited
	
	In Baht

	
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Current assets
	
	18,593,752
	
	13,010,586

	Non-current assets
	
	80,519,425
	
	64,639,298

	Current liabilities
	
	937,091
	
	9,916,143

	Non-current liabilities
	
	-
	
	-

	Net assets
	
	98,176,086
	
	67,733,741

	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	
	9,390,746
	
	4,955,272

	
	
	
	
	

	Profit(loss) for the year
	
	442,345
	
	(2,787,417)

	Other comprehensive income for the year
	
	-
	
	-

	Total comprehensive income for the year
	
	442,345
	
	(2,787,417)



Promptnow Company Limied
	
	In Baht

	
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Current assets
	
	91,390,214
	
	-

	Non-current assets
	
	19,788,022
	
	-

	Current liabilities
	
	15,115,434
	
	-

	Non-current liabilities
	
	1,151,461
	
	-

	Net assets
	
	94,911,341
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	
	51,878,014
	
	-

	
	
	
	
	

	Profit(loss) for the year
	
	10,305,287
	
	-

	Other comprehensive income for the year
	
	(392,599)
	
	-

	Total comprehensive income for the year
	
	9,912,688
	
	-


12.4
Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the consolidated financial statements:

Angstrom Solutions Company Limited
	
	In Baht

	
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Net assets of the associate company
	
	98,176,086
	
	67,733,741

	Proportion of the interest in associate company
	
	40
	
	40

	Proportion of equity in net assets
	
	39,270,435
	
	27,093,496

	Goodwill
	
	-
	
	-

	Carrying amount of the  associate company
	
	39,270,435
	
	27,093,496



Promptnow Company Limied

	
	In Baht

	
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Net assets of the associate company
	
	94,911,341
	
	-

	Proportion of the interest in associate company
	
	20
	
	-

	Proportion of equity in net assets
	
	18,982,268
	
	-

	Goodwill
	
	37,514,182
	
	-

	Carrying amount of the  associate company
	
	56,496,450
	
	-


13.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries consisted of investment in share capital, as follows: 

	
	In Baht

	
	
	Paid up capital
	
	Value of investment under
	
	Separate Financial Statement
	
	Dividend income

	Name of subsidiaries
	
	 (Million Baht)
	
	the equity method
	
	Cost method (Net allowance 

for impariment)
	
	

	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015
	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015
	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015
	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015

	Promptnow Company Limited
	
-
	
	15.00
	
	-
	
	21,072,392
	
	-
	
	9,000,000
	
	-
	
	-

	Advance Intelligence Modernity 


Company Limited
	10.00
	
	10.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	6,000,000
	
	6,000,000
	
	-
	
	-

	Modernform Integration Services 


Company Limited
	64.10
	
	64.10
	
	85,313,569
	
	71,503,730
	
	96,050,000
	
	96,050,000
	
	-
	
	-

	Business Applications Company Limited
	10.00
	
	10.00
	
	196,463,795
	
	201,241,505
	
	200,828,330
	
	200,828,330
	
	16,000,000
	
	20,000,000

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	80.00
	
	80.00
	
	226,987,867
	
	282,676,688
	
	291,926,606
	
	291,926,606
	
	-
	
	13,000,000

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	5.00
	
	5.00
	
	85,817,769
	
	87,060,052
	
	80,441,387
	
	80,441,387
	
	4,699,812
	
	5,749,770

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	5.00
	
	5.00
	
	18,532,727
	
	18,860,184
	
	20,628,847
	
	20,628,847
	
	1,649,934
	
	1,799,928

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	5.00
	
	5.00
	
	19,751,526
	
	20,539,524
	
	20,238,830
	
	20,238,830
	
	1,449,942
	
	2,099,916

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	5.00
	
	5.00
	
	16,913,639
	
	17,443,009
	
	17,794,609
	
	17,794,609
	
	1,399,944
	
	2,099,916

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	3.00
	
	3.00
	
	13,346,107
	
	14,434,084
	
	10,075,499
	
	10,075,499
	
	1,979,868
	
	1,919,872

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	30.00
	
	30.00
	
	163,937,852
	
	162,258,809
	
	144,317,499
	
	144,317,499
	
	7,949,947
	
	15,599,896

	Playtorium Solutions Company Limited
	1.25
	
	
-
	
	847,224
	
	-
	
	875,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	   Total 
	
	
	
	
	827,912,075
	
	897,089,977
	
	889,176,607
	
	897,301,607
	
	35,129,447
	
	62,269,298

	Less : Allowance for impairment of investment
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(99,976,606)
	
	(56,675,000)
	
	
	
	

	   Net
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	789,200,001
	
	840,626,607
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Reserve for loss from investment in subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	11,272,876
	
	11,445,292
	
	
	
	

	Presented as : Allowance for doubtful debts (See Note 5)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(11,272,876)
	
	(11,445,292)
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	                
	
	-
	
	-
	
	
	
	




Promptnow Company Limited


At the Annual General Meeting No. 1/2016 of the Company’s shareholders on April 25, 2016, it was approved to enter into related transaction and the asset disposure between the Company and Promptnow Company Limited, a subsidiary company, with TIS Inc. and TISI (Thailand) Co.,Ltd. which are called “TIS Group”. The Company will sell partial ordinary shares held in Promptnow of 53,200 shares and to waive the rights to subscribe for the shares of the increased capital according to the total stake of the Company. From Promptnow registering the ordinary share capital increase for 34,000 shares at the offering price of Baht 1,467 per share, the Company has lost the control that it once had in Promptnow Company Limited. And Promptnow Company Limited has the status as an associated company of the Company from May 12, 2016 onwards. As a result, the Company’s shareholding stake in Promptnow has decreased from 60 percent to 20 percent of the total number of ordinary shares. 


The Company has sold the investment of 53,200 shares at the selling price Baht 1,467 per share, totaling Baht 78.04 million. The investment has cost per book value in the amount of Baht 5.32 million.  The Company has gain from sale of investment in the subsidiary in the amount of Baht 72.72 million as shown in the separate statement of comprehensive income under “Gain on sale of investment in the subsidiary”. The Company records the resulting difference that arises from the loss of control in the subsidiary as profit (loss) for the period in the consolidated financial statements that are presented as follows:  
	
	In Baht

	The fair value of the consideration received
	
	78,044,400

	The fair value of the retained investment (20%)
	
	53,985,600

	The carrying amount of non-controlling interests
	
	13,305,715

	(Less) Net assets in the subsidiary that are derecognized
	
	(33,264,288)

	Gain from the loss of control in the subsidiary
	
	112,071,427



In year 2016, the Company has reversal of the allowance for impairment of investments in Promptnow Company Limited of Baht 5.63 million, which is shown in profit/loss for the period in the separate statement of comprehensive income from the sale of investment in the above company.
Motif Technology Public Company Limited

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognizes the loss on impairment of investment in Motif Technology Public Company Limited totaling Baht 48.93 million in the separate financial statements as a result of recoverable amount of investment was less than the carrying amount of investment. The recoverable amount from Motif Technology Public Company Limited was determined based on business value using the discounted cash flow method under the discount rate assumption on the basis of the weighted average cost of capita (“WACC”) at the rate of 8.2%. 

13.1
The subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests



The Company has consolidated four subsidiaries is 1) Promtnow Company Limited 2) Advance Intelligence Modernity Company Limited 3) M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited (Subsidiaries held by Modernform Integration Services Company Limited) and 4) Playtorium Solutions Company Limited that have material non-controlling interest:

	Name of Company
	
	Proportion of ownership interests and voting rights held by non-controlling interests
	
	In Bath

	
	
	
	
	Profit(loss) allocated to non-controlling interests
	
	Accumulated non-controlling interests

	
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Promptnow Company Limited
	
	-
	
	40.00
	
	(742,546)
	
	4,138,511
	
	-
	
	14,048,262

	M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	
	20.00
	
	20.00
	
	1,222,028
	
	1,553,548
	
	6,132,561
	
	5,910,592

	Advance Intelligence Modernnity Company Limited
	
	40.00
	
	40.00
	
	-
	
	-
	
	
	
	-

	Playtorium Solutions Company Limited
	
	30.00
	
	-
	
	(11,904)
	
	-
	
	363,096
	
	-

	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	467,578
	
	5,692,059
	
	6,495,657
	
	19,958,854


13.2
The summarized financial information represents amounts before intragroup eliminations as follows: 
	
	In Baht

	
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Promptnow Company Limited
	
	
	
	

	Current assets
	
	-
	
	65,949,326

	Non-current assets
	
	-
	
	19,824,410

	Current liabilities
	
	-
	
	50,208,366

	Non-current liabilities
	
	-
	
	444,717

	Non-Controlling interests
	
	-
	
	14,048,262

	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	
	-
	
	66,265,576

	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
	
	-
	
	(8,757,698)

	Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
	
	-
	
	(1,219,810)

	Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities
	
	-
	
	9,863,804

	Net cash inflow (outflow) 
	
	-
	
	(113,704)


	
	In Baht

	
	
	2016
	
	2015

	M.I.S. Outsourcing Company Limited
	
	
	
	

	Current assets
	
	61,216,057
	
	44,719,660

	Non-current assets
	
	2,025,477
	
	1,462,446

	Current liabilities
	
	30,260,147
	
	15,850,452

	Non-current liabilities
	
	2,325,025
	
	776,625

	Non-Controlling interests
	
	6,132,561
	
	5,910,592

	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	
	106,101,976
	
	73,655,133

	Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
	
	1,000,060
	
	1,000,060

	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
	
	8,662,318
	
	5,202,560

	Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
	
	(225,453)
	
	(346,325)

	Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities
	
	(5,000,000)
	
	(5,000,000)

	Net cash inflow (outflow) 
	
	3,436,865
	
	(143,765)


14.
GOODWILL



Movements of goodwill during in the years are as follow :

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015

	Goodwill
	574,489,233
	
	574,489,233

	Increase
	-
	
	-

	Less : Allowance for impairment of investment
	(73,679,100)
	
	(27,529,367)

	Net goodwill
	500,810,133
	
	546,959,866


Impairment of goodwill



During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company has tested for impairment of goodwill that arises from the acquisition of the subsidiary business and allocation of Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) which consists of Motif Technology Public Company Limited, Business Application Co.,Ltd. and group of Soft Square 1999 Co., Ltd. by comparing the carrying amount of the unit includes the goodwill, with the recoverable amount. The recovery amount was based on its value in use, determined by future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the unit. The cash flows were projected over a period of 5 years before a terminal growth rate.  


Motif Technology (Public) Company Limited



The carrying amount of the cash generating unit may be considered to have higher value than the recoverable amount which may indicate an impairment of asset.  As at December 31, 2016, the Company has recognized the impairment of goodwill in the amount of Baht 62.15 million and the loss from impairment is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2016 in the amount of Baht 46.15 million.  



The key assumptions used in estimating the value in use are as follows:
	Key assumption
	
	Value
	
	Approach used to determine the value

	· Discount rate
	
	8.20%
	
	External source of information

	· Terminal Value Growth Rate
	
	4.00%
	
	Constant inflation rate

	· Average budgeted EBITDA growth
	
	4.20%
	
	Experience and industry


15.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	Office
	
	Tools and
	
	Equipment
	
	Motor
	
	

	
	Land
	
	Building
	
	improvements
	
	furniture
	
	office
	
	and software
	
	vehicles
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	equipment
	
	system
	
	
	
	

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	17,831,600
	
	36,273,036
	
	28,327,830
	
	182,867,811
	
	228,696,546
	
	45,347,072
	
	17,677,664
	
	557,021,559

	
Acquisitions 
	-
	
	-
	
	7,548,098
	
	12,261,476
	
	16,100,395
	
	654,962
	
	1,277,411
	
	37,842,342

	
Disposals 
	
	
	
	
	(3,647,371)
	
	(12,357,072)
	
	(15,661,381)
	
	(519,633)
	
	(5,728,112)
	
	(37,913,569)

	
Loss of control in subsidiary
	-
	
	-
	
	(646,258)
	
	(1,166,488)
	
	(3,024,661)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(4,837,407)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	102,670
	
	2,753,581
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,856,251

	
December 31, 2016
	17,831,600
	
	36,273,036
	
	31,582,299
	
	181,708,397
	
	228,864,480
	
	45,482,401
	
	13,226,963
	
	554,969,176


	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	-
	
	14,852,510
	
	27,314,437
	
	146,500,640
	
	189,635,545
	
	29,984,291
	
	12,016,343
	
	420,303,766

	
Depreciation for the years
	-
	
	636,524
	
	548,861
	
	13,480,200
	
	18,451,875
	
	5,524,345
	
	2,245,270
	
	40,887,075

	
Depreciation for disposals 
	-
	
	-
	
	(3,307,642)
	
	(12,173,565)
	
	(14,113,790)
	
	(454,039)
	
	(4,998,041)
	
	(35,047,077)

	
Loss of control in subsidiary
	-
	
	-
	
	(646,253)
	
	(909,409)
	
	(2,070,143)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(3,625,805)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2016
	-
	
	15,489,034
	
	23,909,403
	
	146,897,866
	
	191,903,487
	
	35,054,597
	
	9,263,572
	
	422,517,959

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,182,160
	
	-
	
	7,260,700
	
	-
	
	17,442,860

	
Allowance for declining 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

value for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
Allowance for declining



 value (reversal)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(7,887)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(7,887)

	
December 31, 2016
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,174,273
	
	-
	
	7,260,700
	
	-
	
	17,434,973

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2016
	17,831,600
	
	20,784,002
	
	7,672,896
	
	24,636,258
	
	36,960,993
	
	3,167,104
	
	3,963,391
	
	115,016,244

	
December 31, 2015
	17,831,600
	
	21,420,526
	
	1,013,393
	
	26,185,011
	
	39,061,001
	
	8,102,081
	
	5,661,321
	
	119,274,933


	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	Office
	
	Tools and
	
	Equipment
	
	Motor
	
	

	
	Land
	
	Building
	
	improvements
	
	furniture
	
	office
	
	and software
	
	vehicles
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	equipment
	
	system
	
	
	
	

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	17,831,600
	
	36,273,036
	
	31,882,661
	
	190,625,530
	
	218,797,241
	
	38,019,765
	
	23,720,076
	
	557,149,909

	
Acquisitions 
	-
	
	-
	
	281,262
	
	6,778,387
	
	14,973,674
	
	7,391,294
	
	3,405,358
	
	32,829,975

	
Disposals 
	-
	
	-
	
	(3,836,093)
	
	(15,425,909)
	
	(6,876,409)
	
	(63,987)
	
	(9,447,770)
	
	(35,650,168)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	889,803
	
	1,802,040
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,691,843

	
December 31, 2015
	17,831,600
	
	36,273,036
	
	28,327,830
	
	182,867,811
	
	228,696,546
	
	45,347,072
	
	17,677,664
	
	557,021,559


	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	-
	
	14,196,008
	
	30,545,822
	
	142,033,896
	
	176,876,805
	
	22,093,631
	
	17,586,285
	
	403,332,447

	
Depreciation for the years
	-
	
	656,502
	
	470,114
	
	18,414,997
	
	17,751,446
	
	7,944,354
	
	2,604,394
	
	47,841,807

	
Depreciation for disposals 
	-
	
	-
	
	(3,701,499)
	
	(13,948,253)
	
	(4,992,706)
	
	(53,694)
	
	(8,174,336)
	
	(30,870,488)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2015
	-
	
	14,852,510
	
	27,314,437
	
	146,500,640
	
	189,635,545
	
	29,984,291
	
	12,016,343
	
	420,303,766

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,223,109
	
	-
	
	7,270,994
	
	-
	
	17,494,103

	
Allowance for declining 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

value for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
Allowance for declining


 value (reversal)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(40,949)
	
	-
	
	(10,294)
	
	-
	
	(51,243)

	
December 31, 2015
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,182,160
	
	-
	
	7,260,700
	
	-
	
	17,442,860

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2015
	17,831,600
	
	21,420,526
	
	1,013,393
	
	26,185,011
	
	39,061,001
	
	8,102,081
	
	5,661,321
	
	119,274,933

	
December 31, 2014
	17,831,600
	
	22,125,252
	
	1,329,887
	
	39,176,899
	
	41,071,072
	
	8,655,140
	
	6,133,791
	
	136,323,641




As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, certain equipment of the Company and its subsidiaries have been fully depreciated but still in use. The costs of those assets amounted to Baht 263.25 million and Baht 289.04 million, respectively.



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries have motor vehicles and office equipment under the financial lease agreements amounted to net book value of Baht 2.04 million and Baht 2.15  million, respectively.
	
	In Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	Leasehold
	
	Office
	
	Tools and
	
	Equipment
	
	Motor
	
	

	
	improvements
	
	furniture
	
	office
	
	and software
	
	vehicles
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	equipment
	
	system
	
	
	
	

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	18,734,658
	
	144,102,951
	
	186,299,030
	
	34,315,080
	
	9,758,693
	
	393,210,412

	
Acquisitions 
	7,407,818
	
	11,575,776
	
	14,998,510
	
	-
	
	74,766
	
	34,056,870

	
Disposals 
	(3,647,371)
	
	(8,192,651)
	
	(8,600,463)
	
	(10,000)
	
	(3,525,000)
	
	(23,975,485)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	102,670
	
	2,753,581
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,856,251

	
December  31, 2016
	22,495,105
	
	147,588,746
	
	195,450,658
	
	34,305,080
	
	6,308,459
	
	406,148,048


	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	17,903,169
	
	109,531,320
	
	153,122,052
	
	25,272,842
	
	6,465,820
	
	312,295,203

	
Depreciation for the year
	378,670
	
	12,697,731
	
	16,086,873
	
	954,454
	
	1,323,052
	
	31,440,780

	
Depreciation for disposals 
	(3,307,641)
	
	(8,092,664)
	
	(7,052,922)
	
	(9,999)
	
	(2,856,598)
	
	(21,319,824)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2016
	14,974,198
	
	114,136,387
	
	162,156,003
	
	26,217,297
	
	4,932,274
	
	322,416,159

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	-
	
	10,182,160
	
	-
	
	7,260,700
	
	-
	
	17,442,860

	
Allowance for declining value for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
Allowance for declining value (reversal)
	-
	
	(7,887)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(7,887)

	
December 31, 2016
	-
	
	10,174,273
	
	-
	
	7,260,700
	
	-
	
	17,434,973

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2016
	7,520,907
	
	23,278,086
	
	33,294,655
	
	827,083
	
	1,376,185
	
	66,296,916

	
December 31, 2015
	831,489
	
	24,389,471
	
	33,176,978
	
	1,781,538
	
	3,292,873
	
	63,472,349


	
	In Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	Leasehold
	
	Office
	
	Tools and
	
	Equipment
	
	Motor
	
	

	
	improvements
	
	furniture
	
	office
	
	and software
	
	vehicles
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	equipment
	
	system
	
	
	
	

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	18,453,395
	
	144,744,967
	
	177,486,958
	
	33,899,098
	
	14,473,835
	
	389,058,253

	
Acquisitions 
	281,263
	
	6,315,393
	
	11,813,514
	
	472,670
	
	1,876,358
	
	20,759,198

	
Disposals 
	-
	
	(7,847,212)
	
	(4,803,482)
	
	(56,688)
	
	(6,591,500)
	
	(19,298,882)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	889,803
	
	1,802,040
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,691,843

	
December  31, 2015
	18,734,658
	
	144,102,951
	
	186,299,030
	
	34,315,080
	
	9,758,693
	
	393,210,412


	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	17,624,382
	
	100,543,839
	
	141,350,357
	
	21,613,724
	
	10,112,322
	
	291,244,624

	
Depreciation for the year
	278,787
	
	16,746,299
	
	14,800,811
	
	3,710,558
	
	1,784,027
	
	37,320,482

	
Depreciation for disposals 
	-
	
	(7,758,818)
	
	(3,029,116)
	
	(51,440)
	
	(5,430,529)
	
	(16,269,903)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2015
	17,903,169
	
	109,531,320
	
	153,122,052
	
	25,272,842
	
	6,465,820
	
	312,295,203

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	-
	
	10,223,109
	
	-
	
	7,270,994
	
	-
	
	17,494,103

	
Allowance for declining value for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
Allowance for declining value (reversal)
	-
	
	(40,949)
	
	-
	
	(10,294)
	
	-
	
	(51,243)

	
December 31, 2015
	-
	
	10,182,160
	
	-
	
	7,260,700
	
	-
	
	17,442,860

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2015
	831,489
	
	24,389,471
	
	33,176,978
	
	1,781,538
	
	3,292,873
	
	63,472,349

	
December 31, 2014
	829,013
	
	33,978,019
	
	36,136,601
	
	5,014,380
	
	4,361,513
	
	80,319,526




As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, certain equipment of the Company has been fully depreciated but still in use. The costs of those assets amounted to Baht 230.44 million and Baht 213.46 million, respectively.



As at December 31, 2015 the Company has office equipment under the financial lease agreements amounted to net book value of Baht 0.14 million. 
	 
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the years ended December 31,
	
	For the years ended December 31,

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Depreciation charged to the statements of comprehensive 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Cost of sales and services
	24,079,373
	
	28,122,344
	
	22,578,078
	
	22,002,804

	

Administrative expenses
	16,807,702
	
	19,719,463
	
	8,862,702
	
	15,317,678

	



Total
	40,887,075
	
	47,841,807
	
	31,440,780
	
	37,320,482


16. 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	Computer software
	
	Project system

software 
	
	Games for download development of products
	
	Work in progress

- Cost of research and development 

of product
	
	Work in progress

- development of products
	
	Total

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	54,890,720
	
	62,647,103
	
	11,127,206
	
	1,999,521
	
	5,436,543
	
	136,101,093

	
Acquisitions/Internal cost
	5,935,854
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,369,928
	
	-
	
	16,305,782

	
Loss of control in subsidiary
	(1,449,555)
	
	(30,444,078)
	
	(1,270,544)
	
	-
	
	(5,436,543)
	
	(38,600,720)

	
Amortization
	(760,685)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(760,685)

	
Transfer in (out)
	1,045,335
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,281,179
	
	-
	
	2,326,514

	
December 31, 2016
	59,661,669
	
	32,203,025
	
	9,856,662
	
	13,650,628
	
	-
	
	115,371,984

	Accumulated Amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	42,628,144
	
	36,025,737
	
	8,991,934
	
	157,623
	
	-
	
	87,803,438

	
Amortization for the year
	2,412,381
	
	2,816,121
	
	105,878
	
	421,524
	
	-
	
	5,755,904

	
Loss of control in subsidiary
	(1,211,640)
	
	(19,969,419)
	
	(741,150)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(21,922,209)

	
Amortization for for disposals
	(430,252)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(403,252)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2016
	43,425,633
	
	18,872,439
	
	8,356,662
	
	579,147
	
	-
	
	71,233,881

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	5,612,520
	
	10,461,680
	
	1,500,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	17,574,200

	
Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   

for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2016
	5,612,520
	
	10,461,680
	
	1,500,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	17,574,200

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2016
	10,623,516
	
	2,868,906
	
	-
	
	13,071,481
	
	-
	
	26,563,903

	
December 31, 2015
	6,650,056
	
	16,159,686
	
	635,272
	
	1,841,898
	
	5,436,543
	
	30,723,455


	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	Computer software
	
	Project system

software 
	
	Games for download development of products
	
	Work in progress

- Cost of research and development 

of product
	
	Work in progress

- development of products
	
	Total

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	54,314,676
	
	62,647,103
	
	11,127,206
	
	-
	
	4,761,610
	
	132,850,595

	
Acquisitions/Internal cost
	576,931
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,999,521
	
	1,012,033
	
	3,588,485

	
Amortization
	(887)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(887)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(337,100)
	
	(337,100)

	
December 31, 2015
	54,890,720
	
	62,647,103
	
	11,127,206
	
	1,999,521
	
	5,436,543
	
	136,101,093

	Accumulated Amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	35,514,004
	
	28,856,737
	
	8,568,417
	
	-
	
	-
	
	72,939,158

	
Amortization for the year
	7,115,026
	
	7,169,000
	
	423,517
	
	157,623
	
	-
	
	14,865,166

	
Amortization for for disposals
	(886)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(886)

	
Transfer in (out)
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2015
	42,628,144
	
	36,025,737
	
	8,991,934
	
	157,623
	
	-
	
	87,803,438

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	5,612,520
	
	10,461,680
	
	1,500,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	17,574,200

	
Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   

for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2015
	5,612,520
	
	10,461,680
	
	1,500,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	17,574,200

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2015
	6,650,056
	
	16,159,686
	
	635,272
	
	1,841,898
	
	5,436,543
	
	30,723,455

	
December 31, 2014
	13,188,152
	
	23,328,686
	
	1,058,789
	
	-
	
	4,761,610
	
	42,337,237


	
	In Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	Computer software
	
	Project system

software 
	
	Work in progress

- Cost of research 

and development 

of product
	
	Total

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	46,225,284
	
	29,292,927
	
	1,132,213
	
	76,650,424

	
Acquisitions/Internal cost
	5,935,855
	
	-
	
	9,991,666
	
	15,927,521

	
Amortization
	(760,685)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(760,685)

	
Transfer in (out) 
	1,045,335
	
	-
	
	1,281,179
	
	2,326,514

	
December 31, 2016
	52,445,789
	
	29,292,927
	
	12,405,058
	
	94,143,774

	Accumulated Amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	35,954,951
	
	16,039,369
	
	-
	
	51,994,320

	
Amortization for the year
	1,841,679
	
	1,572,028
	
	-
	
	3,413,707

	
Amortization for disposals
	(403,252)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(403,252)

	
December 31, 2016
	37,393,378
	
	17,611,397
	
	-
	
	55,004,775

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2016
	5,612,520
	
	8,812,625
	
	-
	
	14,425,145

	
Allowance for declining value for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2016
	5,612,520
	
	8,812,625
	
	-
	
	14,425,145

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2016
	9,439,891
	
	2,868,906
	
	12,405,058
	
	24,713,854

	
December 31, 2015
	4,657,813
	
	4,440,933
	
	1,132,213
	
	10,230,959


	
	In Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	Computer software
	
	Project system

software 
	
	Work in progress

- Cost of research 

and development 

of product
	
	Total

	At cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	45,725,076
	
	29,292,927
	
	-
	
	75,018,003

	
Acquisitions/Internal cost
	501,095
	
	-
	
	1,132,213
	
	1,633,308

	
Amortization
	(887)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(887)

	
Transfer in (out) 
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2015
	46,225,284
	
	29,292,927
	
	1,132,213
	
	76,650,424

	Accumulated Amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	29,501,927
	
	13,846,744
	
	-
	
	43,348,671

	
Amortization for the year
	6,453,910
	
	2,192,625
	
	-
	
	8,646,535

	
Amortization for disposals
	(886)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(886)

	
December 31, 2015
	35,954,951
	
	16,039,369
	
	-
	
	51,994,320

	Allowance for declining value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
January 1, 2015
	5,612,520
	
	8,812,625
	
	-
	
	14,425,145

	
Allowance for declining value for the year
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
December 31, 2015
	5,612,520
	
	8,812,625
	
	-
	
	14,425,145

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
December 31, 2015
	4,657,813
	
	4,440,933
	
	1,132,213
	
	10,230,959

	
December 31, 2014
	10,610,629
	
	6,633,558
	
	-
	
	17,244,187



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, certain computer software and project system software of the Company has been fully amortizated but still in use. The cost of those assets amounted to Baht 36.93 million and Baht 21.15 million, respectively.

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the years ended December 31,
	
	For the years ended December 31,

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Amortization charged to the statements of  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	

Cost of sales and services
	2,243,552
	
	3,632,591
	
	1,572,028
	
	2,192,625

	

Administrative expenses
	3,512,352
	
	11,232,575
	
	1,841,679
	
	6,453,910

	


Total
	5,755,904
	
	14,865,166
	
	3,413,707
	
	8,646,535


17.
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

17.1
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as follows:-
	 
	 In Baht

	 
	Consolidated financial statements
	 
	Separate financial statements

	 
	As at December 

31, 2016
	 
	As at December 

31, 2015
	 
	As at December 

31, 2016
	 
	As at December

31, 2015

	Deferred tax assets

	17,770,124
	
	22,324,347
	
	15,626,898
	
	19,453,591

	Deferred tax liabilities
	(1,704,798)
	
	(1,744,111)
	
	-
	
	-

	
	16,065,326
	
	20,580,236
	
	15,626,898
	
	19,453,591


17.2
Changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are summarized as follows:
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements 

	
	Balance as at 
	
	Revenue (expenses) during the year
	
	Loss of control
	
	Balance as at 

	
	Dec. 31, 15
	
	In profit or loss
	
	In other comprehensive income
	
	in subsidiary
	
	Dec. 31, 16

	Deferred tax assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Trade account receivables 
	3,331,606
	
	10,910
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,342,516

	
	Cost at work in process
	1,923,818
	
	(505,116)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,418,702

	
	Loans to related parties
	1,080,667
	
	(16,000)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,064,667

	
	Property, plant and equipment 
	2,549,071
	
	(1,163,726)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,385,345

	
	Intangible assets
	1,122,505
	
	(727,503)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	395,002

	
	Provisions for employee benefits
	9,818,824
	
	2,262,621
	
	(1,397,486)
	
	(99,744)
	
	10,584,215

	
	Provision for loss of project 
	2,558,050
	
	(2,558,050)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	
	Provision for litigation
	15,420
	
	(15,420)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	22,399,961
	
	(2,712,284)
	
	(1,397,486)
	
	(99,744)
	
	18,190,447

	Deferred tax liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unrealized gain on remeasuring 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	available for sale investments
	42,784
	
	-
	
	(387,872)
	
	-
	
	430,656

	
	Financial lease agreement 
	32,830
	
	34,924
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(2,094)

	
	Fair value adjustment of assets in  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	business combinations
	1,744,111
	
	47,552
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,696,559

	Total
	1,819,725
	
	82,476
	
	(387,872)
	
	-
	
	2,125,121

	Net
	20,580,236
	
	(2,629,808)
	
	(1,785,358)
	
	(99,744)
	
	16,065,326


	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements 

	
	Balance as at 
	
	Revenue (expenses) during the year
	
	Balance as at 

	
	Dec. 31, 14
	
	In profit or loss
	
	In other comprehensive income
	
	Dec. 31, 15

	Deferred tax assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Trade account receivables 
	3,338,026
	
	(6,420)
	
	-
	
	3,331,606

	
	Cost at work in process
	2,123,178
	
	(199,360)
	
	-
	
	1,923,818

	
	Loans to related parties
	1,080,667
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,080,667

	
	Property, plant and equipment 
	3,026,810
	
	(477,739)
	
	-
	
	2,549,071

	
	Intangible assets
	1,130,663
	
	(8,158)
	
	-
	
	1,122,505

	
	Provisions for employee benefits
	7,986,466
	
	2,104,631
	
	(272,273)
	
	9,818,824

	
	Provision for loss of project 
	5,245,621
	
	(2,687,571)
	
	-
	
	2,558,050

	
	Provision for litigation
	15,420
	
	-
	
	-
	
	15,420

	Total
	23,946,851
	
	(1,274,617)
	
	(272,273)
	
	22,399,961

	Deferred tax liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unrealized gain on remeasuring available 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	for sale investments
	53,618
	
	-
	
	10,834
	
	42,784

	
	Financial lease agreement 
	125,949
	
	93,119
	
	-
	
	32,830

	
	Fair value adjustment of assets in  business
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	combinations
	1,791,662
	
	47,551
	
	-
	
	1,744,111

	Total
	1,971,229
	
	140,670
	
	10,834
	
	1,819,725

	Net
	21,975,622
	
	(1,133,947)
	
	(261,439)
	
	20,580,236


	
	In Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statements 

	
	Balance as at 
	
	Revenue (expenses) during the year
	
	Balance as at 

	
	Dec. 31, 15
	
	In profit or loss
	
	In other comprehensive income
	
	Dec. 31, 16

	Deferred tax assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Trade account receivables 
	3,331,606
	
	(2,140)
	
	-
	
	3,329,466

	
	Cost of work in process
	1,897,960
	
	(486,670)
	
	-
	
	1,411,290

	
	Loans to related parties
	1,080,667
	
	(16,000)
	
	-
	
	1,064,667

	
	Property, plant and equipment
	2,549,071
	
	(1,163,726)
	
	-
	
	1,385,345

	
	Intangible assets
	1,122,505
	
	(727,503)
	
	-
	
	395,002

	
	Provisions for employee benefits
	6,937,442
	
	2,076,469
	
	(603,573)
	
	8,410,338

	
	Provision for loss of project 
	2,558,050
	
	(2,558,050)
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	19,477,301
	
	(2,877,620)
	
	(603,573)
	
	15,996,108

	Deferred tax liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unrealized gain on remeasuring available 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	for sale investments
	23,710
	
	-
	
	(345,500)
	
	369,210

	Total
	23,710
	
	-
	
	(345,500)
	
	369,210

	Net
	19,453,591
	
	(2,877,620)
	
	(949,073)
	
	15,626,898


	
	In Baht

	
	Separate Financial Statements 

	
	Balance as at 
	
	Revenue (expenses) during the year
	
	Balance as at 

	
	Dec. 31, 14
	
	In profit or loss
	
	In other comprehensive income
	
	Dec. 31, 15

	Deferred tax assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Trade account receivables 
	3,338,026
	
	(6,420)
	
	-
	
	3,331,606

	
	Cost of work in process
	2,104,558
	
	(206,598)
	
	-
	
	1,897,960

	
	Loans to related parties
	1,080,667
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,080,667

	
	Property, plant and equipment
	3,026,810
	
	(477,739)
	
	-
	
	2,549,071

	
	Intangible assets
	1,130,663
	
	(8,158)
	
	-
	
	1,122,505

	
	Provisions for employee benefits
	5,176,576
	
	1,760,866
	
	-
	
	6,937,442

	
	Estimated project losses
	5,245,621
	
	(2,687,571)
	
	-
	
	2,558,050

	Total
	21,102,921
	
	(1,625,620)
	
	-
	
	19,477,301

	Deferred tax liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Unrealized gain on remeasuring available 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	for sale investments
	-
	
	-
	
	(23,710)
	
	23,710

	Total
	-
	
	-
	
	(23,710)
	
	23,710

	Net
	21,102,921
	
	(1,625,620)
	
	(23,710)
	
	19,453,591


18.
BANK OVERDRAFTS AND SHORT-TERM LOANS FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015
	
	As at December  

31, 2016
	
	As at December  

31, 2015

	Bank overdrafts
	2,489,936
	
	5,478,390
	
	-
	
	154,725

	Short-term loans 
	3,000,000
	
	25,000,000
	
	-
	
	-

	Trust receipts
	-
	
	4,923,212
	
	-
	
	-

	
	5,489,936
	
	35,401,602
	
	-
	
	154,725




As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries had credit lines from bank overdrafts, short-term loans from financial institutions and trust receipts as follows:-

	
	Financial institutions

(Place)
	
	Credit line

(Million Baht)
	
	Issuer 

(Million Baht)
	
	

	
	As at

 December

 31, 2016
	
	As at December

 31, 2015
	
	As at December

 31, 2016
	
	As at December

 31, 2015
	
	As at December

 31, 2016
	
	As at December

 31, 2015
	
	Interest rate

(percent per annum)

	Bank Overdrafts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   The Company
	8
	
	8
	
	78
	
	103
	
	-
	
	0.15
	
	MOR per annum

	   The subsidiaries
	2
	
	2
	
	60
	
	80
	
	2.49
	
	5.33
	
	MOR per annum

(2016 : Rate 7.25 - 8.25 per annum)

(2015 : Rate 7.25 - 8.50 per annum)


	Short-term loans 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	  and trust receipts 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   The Company
	8
	
	9
	
	2,250
	
	2,600
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2016 and 2015 : MLR to MLR-1.50  per annum, Market rate per annum 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2016 : Rate 1.30 - 2.30  per annum)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(2015 : Rate 1.30 - 3.60  per annum)

	   The subsidiaries
	2
	
	2
	
	149
	
	246
	
	3.00
	
	29.92
	
	2016 and 2015 : MLR-1 , Market rate per annum 

(2016 : Rate 3.60 - 6.50 per annum)

(2015 : Rate 2.32 - 6.75 per annum)

	Credit card 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   The Company
	1
	
	1
	
	1
	
	1
	
	0.16
	
	-
	
	-

	Letter of guarantee
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   The Company
	8
	
	8
	
	1,800
	
	1,850
	
	271.41
	
	707.63
	
	-

	   The subsidiaries 
	2
	
	2
	
	240
	
	240
	
	29.95
	
	45.33
	
	-




As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries have no obligations on suchlinitabove.



The Company and its subsidiaries have to comply with the covenants and adhere to the terms under the financial institutions overdraft and short-term loan agreements.
19.
TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at 

December  

31, 2016
	
	As at

 December  

31, 2015
	
	As at

December  

31, 2016
	
	As at

 December  

31, 2015

	Trade accounts payable - not related parties
	552,638,020
	
	496,232,463
	
	467,551,284
	
	468,467,838

	Revenue department payable
	32,296,865
	
	16,407,287
	
	31,184,588
	
	16,273,665

	Other accounts payable
	6,619,253
	
	13,849,553
	
	5,233,194
	
	12,806,632

	Total trade and other accounts payable
	591,554,138
	
	526,489,303
	
	503,969,066
	
	497,548,135


20.
LIABILITIES UNDER FINANCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT 



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries have liabilities under financial lease agreement were leasing of motor vehicles and office equipment. The payment details are as follows :-
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement (In Baht)

	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	3,520,125
	
	169,117
	
	3,689,242
	
	4,181,470
	
	398,461
	
	4,579,931

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	1,421,104
	
	80,488
	
	1,501,592
	
	4,309,058
	
	204,356
	
	4,513,414

	Total
	4,941,229
	
	249,605
	
	5,190,834
	
	8,490,528
	
	602,817
	
	9,093,345


	
	Separate Financial Statement (In Baht)

	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015

	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments
	
	Principal
	
	Interest
	
	Payments

	Within one year
	2,121,047
	
	52,939
	
	2,173,986
	
	2,694,696
	
	203,952
	
	2,898,648

	After one year but
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   within five years
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,121,047
	
	52,939
	
	2,173,986

	Total
	2,121,047
	
	52,939
	
	2,173,986
	
	4,815,743
	
	256,891
	
	5,072,634




As at December 31, 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries has 8 outstanding financial lease agreements to purchase motor vehicles and office equipment from a local leasing company are as follows :

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	In Baht (excluded VAT)

	
	Outstanding financial lease agreement
	
	Type of financial lease agreement
	
	Term of payment
	
	Amount per

period


	
	Total

financial lease amount
	
	Price of purchase options

	The Company
	1
	
	Security information and Event
	
	36
	
	241,554.00
	
	8,695,944.00
	
	not fixed

	
	
	
	Management system (SIEM)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Its subsidiary
	1
	
	Machinery copy
	
	48
	
	8,000.00
	
	384,000.00
	
	not fixed

	
	1
	
	Office equipment
	
	60
	
	72,541,94
	
	4,352,516.40
	
	8,300.00

	
	1
	
	Office equipment
	
	60
	
	22,724.00
	
	1,363,440.00
	
	37,752.00

	
	2
	
	Motor vehicle
	
	48
	
	58,879.44
	
	2,783,177.57
	
	278,317.76

	
	1
	
	Motor vehicle
	
	48
	
	15,275.70
	
	733,233.64
	
	not fixed

	
	1
	
	Office equipment
	
	60
	
	6,555.00
	
	393,300.00
	
	750.00

	
	8
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	




Under the terms of the lease agreement referred to above, the Company and its subsidiaries shall have the right to purchase the assets upon the expiry of the lease agreement and the Company shall have to comply with certain conditions and restrictions as specified in the lease agreement.



Liabilities under financial lease agreement for the portion due within one year were shown under “current liabilities” in the statements of financial position.

21.
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS



Movement of employee benefit obligations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 shown as follow :-
	

 
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated 

Financial Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial Statement

	The statements of financial position
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015
	
	As at December 

31, 2016
	
	As at December 

31, 2015

	Employee benefit obligations, beginning of the year
	50,880,354
	
	41,336,361
	
	34,687,209
	
	25,882,877

	Current Service costs and interest
	14,346,714
	
	11,897,610
	
	10,898,953
	
	8,804,332

	Employee benefit obligations paid 
	(2,376,606)
	
	(992,250)
	
	(516,606)
	
	-

	Gain estimation over actuarial principles
	(5,103,181)
	
	(1,361,367)
	
	-
	
	-

	Loss of control in subsidiary               
	(498,718)
	
	-
	
	(3,017,863)
	
	-

	Employee benefit obligations, ending of the period
	57,248,563
	
	50,880,354
	
	42,051,693
	
	34,687,209




The Company and its subsidiaries recognized actuarial gain in the statements of other comprehensive income.



Revenues and expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated 
Financial Statement
	
	Separate 
Financial Statement

	The statement of comprehensive income
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Recognized in profit or loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current service costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost of sales and services
	5,445,439
	
	4,612,682
	
	4,138,247
	
	3,476,754

	Selling expenses
	461,677
	
	244,090
	
	-
	
	-

	Administrative expenses
	3,819,521
	
	3,346,104
	
	3,308,582
	
	2,716,802

	Management benefit expenses 
	3,028,422
	
	2,443,700
	
	2,111,950
	
	1,607,504

	Interest on obligation
	1,591,655
	
	1,251,034
	
	1,340,174
	
	1,003,272

	Total
	14,346,714
	
	11,897,610
	
	10,898,953
	
	8,804,332

	Recognized in other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gain estimation over actuarial priciples
	(5,103,181)
	
	(1,361,367)
	
	(3,017,863)
	
	-

	Total
	(5,103,181)
	
	(1,361,367)
	
	(3,017,863)
	
	-

	Total
	9,243,533
	
	10,536,243
	
	7,881,090
	
	8,804,332



Gain and loss from the estimate based on actuarial principles recognized in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2016 arise from

	Recognize in the statement of comprehensive income
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	
	Separate Financial Statements 

	Improvement from experience
	(21,567,289)
	
	(13,957,057)

	Population assumption 
	708,015
	
	(513,664)

	Financial assumption
	15,756,093
	
	11,452,858

	Total
	(5,103,181)
	
	(3,017,863)





The main assumptions in the assessment financial assumptions 
	
	Percentage

	For the year ended December 31, 2016 
	Consolidated Financial 

Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial 

Statement

	Discount rate
	2.00 - 2.82
	
	2.66

	Salary increase rate
	4.00 - 10.00
	
	7.00

	Employee turnover rate
	0.00 - 25.00
	
	10.00 - 20.00

	Mortality rate
	100 of Table of death B.E.2008
	
	100 of Table of death B.E.2008



Sensitivity analysis




The results of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of the long-term employee benefit obligations as at December 31, 2016 are summarized below:
	
	In Million Baht 

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	
	Separate Financial Statements 

	
	Increase
	
	Decrease
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease

	Discount rate (percentage of change 1)
	(5.92)
	
	6.93
	
	(4.37)
	
	5.10

	Future salary increase rate (percentage of change 1)
	6.71
	
	(5.84)
	
	4.87
	
	(4.26)

	Staff turnover rate (percentage of change 10)
	(6.02)
	
	7.04
	
	(5.01)
	
	5.86


22.
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it has an appropriate financial structure and preserves the ability to continue its business as a going concern.


According to the separate statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company’s debt-to-equity ratio was 0.60 : 1 and  0.57 : 1, respectively.


According to the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries’s debt-to-equity ratio was 0.68 : 1 and 0.64 : 1, respectively.

23.
SHARE CAPITAL



On April 21, 2015, the Annual General Meeting No. 1/2015 of the Company’s shareholders unanimously approved to decrease the share capital 47,000 common shares at a par value of Baht 1 per share from previously Baht 441,500,555 to the new share capital Baht 441,453,555. The Company has already registered with Department of business Development, Ministry of Commerce on May 6, 2015.


Reconciliation in the number of ordinary shares

	
	In Thousand shares

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	As at December

 31, 2016
	
	As at December

 31, 2015
	
	As at December

 31, 2016
	
	As at December

 31, 2015

	Registered ordinary shares 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Number of ordinary shares at the beginning of the years
	441,454
	
	441,501
	
	441,454
	
	441,501

	Increase (Decrease) in share captital
	-
	
	(47)
	
	-
	
	(47)

	Number of ordinary shares at the end of the years
	441,454
	
	441,454
	
	441,454
	
	441,454

	
	

	Issued and paid-up share capital
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Number of ordinary shares at the beginning of the years
	441,454
	
	441,454
	
	441,454
	
	441,454

	Increase in number of ordinary shares due to 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
exercise of warrants
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Number of ordinary shares at the end of the years
	441,454
	
	441,454
	
	441,454
	
	441,454


24.
STATUTORY RESERVE


Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company and a subsidiary is required to set aside as statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income after deducting accumulated deficit brought forward, (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.



Under the terms of the Civil and Commercial Code, twelve subsidiaries is required to set aside as statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income at each dividend declaration as the statutory reserve until the statutory reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.

25.
APPROPRIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS - DIVIDEND

The Company
On April 25, 2016, the General Meeting of Shareholders had approved as follows: 

The dividends had been paid for the performance of the year 2015 to the Company’s shareholders. The list of shareholders who entitled to receive the dividend was determined on May 9, 2016, and by closing the register and suspending the transfer of shares which held on May 10, 2016 for 441,453,555 shares, the rate of Baht 0.33 each shares, at the amount of Baht 145.68 million. The dividends had been paid on May 23, 2016.

On April 21, 2015, the General Meeting of Shareholders had approved as follows: 

The dividends had been paid for the performance of the year 2014 to the Company’s shareholders. The list of shareholders who entitled to receive the dividend was determined on April 29, 2015, and by closing the register and suspending the transfer of shares which held on April 30, 2015 for 441,453,555 shares, the rate of Baht 0.50 each shares, at the amount of Baht 220.73 million. The dividends had been paid on May 15, 2015.




Subsidiaries

According to the Annual General Meeting of its subsidiary, it had approved to pay the annual dividend for the year 2015 including the dividends which had been paid as interim dividends by resolution of the Board of Company’s Directors. The details are shown as follows:

	Company’s name
	
	BODs/Shareholders’ 

meeting date 
	
	Baht per Share
	
	Amount 

(million baht)
	
	Dividend payment Date

	Business Applications Company Limited
	
	April 19, 2016
	
	160.00
	
	16.00
	
	May 13, 2016

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	April 21, 2016*
	
	26.50
	
	7.95
	
	May 13 2016

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	
	April 21, 2016*
	
	94.00
	
	4.70
	
	May 13, 2016

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	
	April 21, 2016*
	
	33.00
	
	1.65
	
	May 13, 2016

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	
	April 21, 2016*
	
	29.00
	
	1.45
	
	May 13, 2016

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	
	April 22, 2016*
	
	28.00
	
	1.40
	
	May 13, 2016

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	
	April 21, 2016*
	
	66.00
	
	1.98
	
	May 13, 2016

	Total
	
	
	
	
	
	35.13
	
	


*   Date of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
According to the Annual General Meeting of its subsidiary, it had approved to pay the annual dividend for the year 2014 including the dividends which had been paid as interim dividends by resolution of the Board of Company’s Directors. The details are shown as follows:

	Company’s name
	
	BODs/Shareholders’ 

meeting date 
	
	Baht per share
	
	Amount 

(million baht)
	
	Dividend payment date

	Business Applications Company Limited
	
	April 20, 2015
	
	200
	
	20.00
	
	May 7, 2015

	Soft Square 1999 Company Limited
	
	April 17, 2015*
	
	52
	
	15.60
	
	May 6, 2015

	Hongson Software Company Limited
	
	April 17, 2015*
	
	115
	
	5.75
	
	May 6, 2015

	Soft Professional Company Limited
	
	April 20, 2015*
	
	36
	
	1.80
	
	May 6, 2015

	Soft Plus Technology Company Limited
	
	April 17, 2015*
	
	42
	
	2.10
	
	May 6, 2015

	K Soft Consulting Company Limited
	
	April 20, 2015*
	
	42
	
	2.10
	
	May 6, 2015

	Sammok Software Company Limited
	
	April 20, 2015*
	
	64
	
	1.92
	
	May 6, 2015

	Motif Technology Public Company Limited
	
	April 18, 2015*
	
	0.1625
	
	13.00
	
	May 7, 2015

	
	
	
	
	
	
	62.27
	
	


*   Date of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 

26.
Tax expense (income)


26.1
Major components of tax expense (income)




For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 consisted of:  

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements 
	
	Separate Financial Statements

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Income tax expense (income) shown in profit or loss :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current  tax expense:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Income tax expense for the year
	52,724,502
	
	51,010,832
	
	47,613,897
	
	42,052,482

	Deferred tax expense (income):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Changes in temporary differences relating to the
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
original recognition and reversal
	2,663,189
	
	1,104,025
	
	2,877,621
	
	1,625,620

	Revaluation of the deferred tax resulting from
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
changing in tax rates
	(33,381)
	
	29,920
	
	-
	
	-

	
Total
	55,354,310
	
	52,144,777
	
	50,491,518
	
	43,678,102

	Income tax relating to components of other 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	comprehensive income :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax relating to :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
Remeasuring available for sale investments
	387,872
	
	10,833
	
	345,500
	
	23,710

	
Gain eatimation over actuarial principle 
	1,397,486
	
	272,273
	
	603,573
	
	-

	
Total
	1,785,358
	
	283,106
	
	949,073
	
	23,710



26.2
A numerical reconciliation between tax expense (income) and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate




For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 which are summarized as follows: 

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statements 
	
	Separate Financial Statements

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Accounting profit (loss) for the period
	277,803,807
	
	254,370,061
	
	238,359,130
	
	259,245,137

	The applicable tax rate (%)
	20
	
	20
	
	20
	
	20

	Tax expense (income) at the applicable tax rate
	55,560,617
	
	50,874,012
	
	47,671,826
	
	51,849,027

	Reconciliation items:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tax effect  of expenses that are not deductible in
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	determining tax profit:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Expenses not allowed as expenses in determining
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	taxable profit
	10,931,089
	
	6,358,543
	
	11,577,862
	
	4,787,768

	Tax effect of income or profit  that are not required in 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	determining taxable profit:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	- Exemption of non-taxable dividend income
	-
	
	-
	
	(7,025,889)
	
	(12,453,860)

	- Gain from initial recognition of investment in associated at  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
the fair value in the consolidated financial statements
	(9,466,548)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	- The exemption of profit of the  promoted  business (BOI)
	(1,186,083)
	
	(4,001,624)
	
	-
	
	-

	- Others 
	(2,102,100)
	
	(632,415)
	
	(1,732,281)
	
	(504,833)

	The difference of gain from sale of investments in subsidiaries between the consolidated financial statements and separate financial statements
	1,597,143
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Revaluation of the deferred tax resulting from changing
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	in tax rates
	-
	
	29,920
	
	-
	
	-

	Effect of deferred tax from  tax rates for the subsidiaries
	(1,099,921)
	
	(953,287)
	
	-
	
	-

	Tax losses not recognized in prior periods but used to reduce
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	     current tax expense
	(1,747,306)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loss on tax base that has not been recorded deferred tax asset
	-
	
	224,427
	
	-
	
	-

	Other
	2,867,419
	
	245,201
	
	-
	
	-

	Total reconciliation items
	(206,307)
	
	1,270,765
	
	2,819,692
	
	(8,170,925)

	Total tax expense (income) 
	55,354,310
	
	52,144,777
	
	50,491,518
	
	43,678,102



26.3
A numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate




For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are summarized as follows:
	
	Consolidated Financial Statements

	
	2016
	
	2015

	
	Tax amount 

(In Baht)
	
	Tax rate

(%)
	
	Tax amount 

(In Baht)
	
	Tax rate

(%)

	Accounting profit (loss) before tax expense for the year
	277,803,807
	
	
	
	254,370,061
	
	

	Tax expense (income) at the applicable tax rate
	55,560,617
	
	20.00
	
	50,874,012
	
	20.00

	Reconciliation items
	(206,307)
	
	(0.07)
	
	1,270,765
	
	0.50

	Tax expense (income) at the average effective tax rate
	55,354,310
	
	19.93
	
	52,144,777
	
	20.50


	
	Separate Financial Statements

	
	2016
	
	2015

	
	Tax amount 

(In Baht)
	
	Tax rate

(%)
	
	Tax amount 

(In Baht)
	
	Tax rate

(%)

	Accounting profit (loss) before tax expense for the year
	238,359,130
	
	
	
	259,245,137
	
	

	Tax expense (income) at the applicable tax rate
	47,671,826
	
	20.00
	
	51,849,027
	
	20.00

	Reconciliation items
	2,819,692
	
	1.18
	
	(8,170,925)
	
	(3.15)

	Tax expense (income) at the average effective tax rate
	50,491,518
	
	21.18
	
	43,678,102
	
	16.85


27. 
EXPENSES BY NATURE


Significant expenses by nature are follow:

	
	In Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the years ended December 31,
	
	For the years ended December 31,

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Changes in cost of work in process
	34,193,478
	
	48,891,061
	
	51,750,200
	
	75,551,276

	Purchase of inventories and service
	1,910,494,683
	
	1,991,202,427
	
	1,655,529,889
	
	1,801,917,254

	Employee costs
	829,585,857
	
	865,179,073
	
	626,069,466
	
	648,772,491

	Depreciation and amortization
	46,642,979
	
	62,707,255
	
	34,854,487
	
	45,967,017

	Gain (loss) on exchange rate
	2,307,843
	
	3,281,186
	
	2,265,291
	
	3,140,281

	Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary and goodwill
	46,149,732
	
	16,000,000
	
	43,301,606
	
	17,445,292


28.
EARNINGS PER SHARE


Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent company for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares which are issued during the year and held by outside party.

	

	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	For the years ended December 31, 
	
	For the years ended December 31, 

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	Profit for the years (Baht)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company
	221,766,295
	
	196,533,225
	
	187,867,612
	
	215,567,035

	Weighted average number of ordinary  shares (shares)
	441,453,555
	
	441,453,555
	
	441,453,555
	
	441,453,555

	Basic earnings per share of the parent company 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Profit for the years (Baht per share)
	0.50
	
	0.45
	
	0.43
	
	0.49


29.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY SEGMENT

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions about the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its performance.


The businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries involve the systems integration, maintenance service and IT professional service with the main operation in the single geographic area in Thailand. Segment performance is considered by revenue and gross profit, and is also measured based on the group operating profit or loss, on a basis consistent with used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statement. The Company and its subsidiaries information for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 by segments are as follows:
	
	 Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement 

	
	For the years ended December 31,

	
	Systems
	
	Maintenance
	
	IT Professional
	
	Elimination 
	
	Total

	
	interqration
	
	service
	
	service
	
	
	
	

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	External revenue
	1,742
	
	1,954
	
	899
	
	909
	
	580
	
	470
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,221
	
	3,333

	Inter-segment revenues
	2
	
	17
	
	2
	
	1
	
	94
	
	46
	
	(98)
	
	(64)
	
	-
	
	-

	Total revenues
	1,744
	
	1,971
	
	901
	
	910
	
	674
	
	516
	
	(98)
	
	(64)
	
	3,221
	
	3,333

	Segment income
	227
	
	268
	
	282
	
	326
	
	180
	
	199
	
	-
	
	-
	
	689
	
	793

	Unallocated income and expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	152
	
	49

	Selling expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(107)
	
	(124)

	Administrative expenses 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(456)
	
	(457)

	Finances costs 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(3)
	
	(5)

	Share of profit (loss) of associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3
	
	(2)

	Income tax (income) expense
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(55)
	
	(52)

	Profit for the years
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	223
	
	202

	Other comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	5
	
	1

	Total comprehensive income for the years
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	228
	
	203

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As at December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Property, plant and equipment 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Intangible assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	115
	
	119

	Other assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	27
	
	31

	Total assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3,186
	
	2,991

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	3,328
	
	3,141




Transfer prices between business segment are as set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.
30.
PROMOTIONAL PRIVILEGES



On September 26, 2016, the Company was granted the following tax privileges for its software business under the category of ENTERPRISE SOFTWARE, DIGITIAL CONTENT and EMBEDDED SOFTWARE under the Investment Promotion Act B.E. 2520 issued by the Board of Investment as follows :-

-
Exemption from corporate income tax on net profit for a period of five years commencing 
as from the date of first earning of operating income.

-
Dividends paid from promoted operations which are exempted from corporate income tax are    in turn exempted from inclusion in the determination of income tax.

-
Exemption from import duty on machinery as approved by the Board of Investment. 

To be entitled to these rights and privileges, the Company must comply with the conditions specified in the promotional certificate.

Six subsidiaries receive tax privileges for the software business. The privileges are corporate income tax exemption, import duty on machinery, tax exemption on dividend income from the promoted business, etc. 

As a promoted business, the Company and subsidiaries have to comply with the terms and conditions as specified in the promotion certificate.

The Company and its subsidiaries’s results of operations classified by the promoted and non-promoted activities for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:-

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement (In Baht)

	
	For the year ended December 31,

	
	Promoted operations
	
	Non-promoted operations
	
	Total 

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	   Sales and service income 



(Program development)
	106,513,465
	
	154,955,386
	
	3,114,134,063
	
	3,178,707,980
	
	3,220,647,528
	
	3,333,663,366

	
	

	
	Separate Financial Statement (In Baht)

	
	For the year ended December 31,

	
	Promoted operations
	
	Non-promoted operations
	
	Total 

	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015
	
	2016
	
	2015

	   Sales and service income 



(Program development)
	-
	
	-
	
	2,707,524,776
	
	2,839,803,076
	
	2,707,524,776
	
	2,839,803,076


31.
PROVIDENT FUND


The Company, the subsidiaries and their employees have jointly established a provident fund as approved by the Ministry of Finance in accordance with the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The fund is contributed by the Company, the subsidiaries and their employees at the rate of 3 - 7 percent of their basic salaries. The fund is managed by a licensed Fund Manager and will be paid to employees upon termination of employment in accordance with the rules of the provident fund. 



The Company and subsidiaries’s contributions for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to Baht 24.77 million and Baht 24.70 million, respectively.



The Company’s contributions for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to Baht 20.65 million and Baht 20.09 million, respectively.

32.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES


32.1
Bank guarantees



As at December 31, 2016, there were outstanding bank guarantees issued by the bank on behalf of the Company of Baht 271.40 million (December 31, 2015 : Baht 707.63 million) and on behalf of the subsidiaries of Baht 29.94 million (December 31, 2015 : Baht 45.33 million) in respect of certain performance obligations required in the normal course of business of the Company and its subsidiaries.

32.2
Commitments on long-term lease agreement



32.2.1
As at December 31, 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries had commitments in respect of







office rental agreements. Future rental payments are as follows:

	
	Million Baht

	
	Consolidated Financial Statement
	
	Separate 

Financial Statement

	Payable within:
	
	
	

	2017
	31.26
	
	21.83

	2018
	18.64
	
	14.05

	2019
	6.36
	
	6.14


32.2.2
For commitment on sale or service under the agreement as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiary have product/service selling agreement that has not been rendered to the costomer at Baht 1,627 million and Baht 1,400 million, respectively. The separate company only has the product/service selling agreement that has not been rendered to the customer as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 at Baht 1,330 million and Baht 1,247 million, respectively.

32.3
Contingent liabilities on lawsuit


Case 1


On June 7, 2010, a governmental client cancelled the buy-sell and installation of system development agreement, dated September 1, 2008, in the amount per agreement of Baht 326.99 million. (The project is undertaken by a group of working team, under a specific agreement. The proportion of works to be performed by the parties are clearly specified. For the investment in this project, the Company has invested in a part of computer system installation in amount of Baht 113.79 million of agreement and the process of installations was completed). But the opinion of the management is that the client does not have right to cancel the such agreement. The buy-sell and installation of work system agreement is still obligated. The cancellation of the agreement of the client is an action to prevent the delivery of work to client within the time as specified by agreement, including an order to take the hardware back. It deems to be a violation of agreement by the client. So that, the Company use the right to cancel the buy-sell and installation of work system agreement as letter on October 14, 2010.


On April 30, 2012, the Company had filed lawsuit against the client to the Intellectual Property and International Trade Center Court, by interpleading into this case and claiming damages in the aggregate amount of Baht 161.27 million.
 On May 21, 2012, the Company was filed by the customer in a Civil case against the Intellectual Property and International Trade Center as a first defendant, and the four defendants from the breach of contract and installation system with the capital Baht 326.99 Million and on June 25, 2012 the Company has attested to the Court by denying the claim of the plaintiff for being not breaching the contract but it is from the plaintiff’s side. So it is not liable for damages as filed.


On March 26, 2015, the Civil case against the Intellectual Property and International Trade Center ordered the Company to return the prepaid wage to the customer amounting to Baht 32.70 million with interest rate 7.5% per annum from the date of receipt until the date of filing amounting to Baht 8.94 million totaling Baht 41.64 million and the damage compensation to the customer amounting to Bath 5 million with interest rate 7.5% per annum from the date of filing onwards until the payment is settled. And On July 23, 2015, the Company has appealed.


As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s management expect that the damage opportunity will not have an impact on the Company. Furthermore, the Company has a memorandum of understanding with a company that enables the group working agreement to return the prepaid wage to the Company amounting to Baht 30 million and agrees to be solely responsible for all damages, fines and costs in accordance with the court order. As at December 31, 2016, the Company is under the Supreme Court. The refore, the Company has not provided an allowance for losses that may occur in the financial statements. 



Case 2


On September 28, 2010, the Company was sued by a client to the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade Court on the charges of breaking computer system installment and consulting contract with the capital amount of Baht 3.89 million. On December 9, 2010, the Company had argued the case for the capital amount of Baht 4.68 million. 


As at December 31, 2016, the court  has a ruling and the Company is under appeal. However, the management of the Company comment that the possibilities of damage are uncertain. Therefore, the Company has not set the allowance for any damage that may occur in the financial statements.


32.4
Contingent liabilities on service agreement

A subsidiary may have contingent liabilities from the penalty of a service agreement with a government agency. Under the term of the Agreement, in case of the party has delayed work delivery, the other party has the right to charge the penalty fee for such delay at the rate as specified in the agreement. The subsidiary has completed delivery of work in delay which exceeds the period as specified in the agreement.  


In all events, the management of subsidiary has indicated the details and documentary evidences in relation with work delivery for clarification of such delivery case that it is not the fault of the subsidiary to the other party.  The management of the subsidiary has reserved the damages at the aggregate amount of Baht 4.93 million, in which the management has believed that it is adequate for settlement of arisen damages. Such item is recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 under the account of administrative expenses.



As at August 30, 2016, the subsidiary filed to the Central Administration Court to clim damage from the above customer with the capital of Baht 93.93 million with interest at 7.5% per annum. Now it is under litigation process.

 
As at December 31, 2016, the subsidiary has arranged the summary of the debtor in connection with the service agreement in the amount of Baht 29.83 million.
33.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS


33.1
Accounting policies

 

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including criteria for recognition of revenues and expenses relating to financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in note 4.


33.2
Financial risk management for financial instruments



  The Company and its subsidiaries manages its financial risk exposure on financial assets and financial liabilities in the normal business by its internal management and control system, and the Company does not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments except forward exchange contracts that are used as risk management tools.  The Company does not have a policy to engage in any derivative financial transactions for speculative or trading purposes.


33.3
Credit risk



The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade accounts receivable and receivable under finance lease agreement. The Company and its subsidiaries manage the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures and therefore do not expect to incur material financial losses. In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries do not have high concentration of credit risk since they have a large customer base. The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of receivables as stated in the statements of financial position.


33.4
Interest rate risk



The exposure of the Company and its subsidiaries to interest rate risk relates primarily to their cash at banks, bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions trust receipts and liabilities under finance lease agreements long - term loans. However, since most of their financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate, the interest rate risk is expected to be minimal. 



Significant financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 classified by type of interest rates are summarized as follows:

	
	In Baht

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	As at  December 31, 2016

	
	
	Floating
	
	Fixed 
	
	No interest
	
	Total

	
	
	interest rate
	
	interest rate
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	232,424,886
	
	1,090,169
	
	9,466,452
	
	242,981,507

	Short-term investment
	
	-
	
	667,257
	
	707,811,168
	
	708,478,425

	Trade and other accounts receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	635,707,186
	
	635,707,186

	Receivable under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	4,671,597
	
	-
	
	4,671,597

	Unbilled receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	422,569,926
	
	422,569,926

	Loans to relates parties 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	746,663
	
	746,663

	Pledged deposits at financial institutions
	
	3,300,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,300,000

	Long-term investments
	
	-
	
	-
	
	95,766,885
	
	95,766,885

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   from financial institutions
	
	5,489,936
	
	-
	
	-
	
	5,489,936

	Trade and other payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	591,554,138
	
	591,554,138

	Accrued expenses  
	
	-
	
	-
	
	171,282,525
	
	171,282,525

	Unbilled payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	165,661,150
	
	165,661,150

	Liabilities under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	4,941,229
	
	-
	
	4,941,229


	
	In Baht

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	As at  December 31, 2015

	
	
	Floating
	
	Fixed 
	
	No interest
	
	Total

	
	
	interest rate
	
	interest rate
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	98,433,419
	
	1,080,843
	
	2,933,928
	
	102,448,190

	Short-term investment
	
	-
	
	5,885,180
	
	251,671,031
	
	257,556,211

	Trade and other accounts receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	1,028,611,558
	
	1,028,611,558

	Receivable under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	13,872,456
	
	-
	
	13,872,456

	Unbilled receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	373,400,289
	
	373,400,289

	Loans to relates parties 
	
	-
	
	-
	
	746,663
	
	746,663

	Pledged deposits at financial institutions
	
	15,000,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	15,000,000

	Long-term investments
	
	-
	
	-
	
	27,093,496
	
	27,093,496

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   from financial institutions
	
	35,401,602
	
	-
	
	-
	
	35,401,602

	Trade and other payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	526,489,303
	
	526,489,303

	Accrued expenses  
	
	-
	
	-
	
	182,951,932
	
	182,951,932

	Unbilled payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	148,511,903
	
	148,511,903

	Liabilities under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	8,490,528
	
	-
	
	8,490,528


	
	In Baht

	
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	As at  December 31, 2016

	
	
	Floating
	
	Fixed 
	
	No interest
	
	Total

	
	
	interest rate
	
	interest rate
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	164,988,475
	
	-
	
	1,264,614
	
	166,253,089

	Short-term investment
	
	-
	
	-
	
	612,670,322
	
	612,670,322

	Trade and other accounts receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	461,196,033
	
	461,196,033

	Receivable under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	3,396,566
	
	-
	
	3,396,566

	Unbilled receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	383,236,897
	
	383,236,897

	Loans to subsidiaries
	
	3,922,124
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,922,124

	Loans to relates parties
	
	-
	
	-
	
	746,663
	
	746,663

	Long-term investments
	
	-
	
	-
	
	836,880,001
	
	836,880,001

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	503,969,066
	
	503,969,066

	Accrued expenses  
	
	-
	
	-
	
	156,816,359
	
	156,816,359

	Unbilled payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	151,203,372
	
	151,203,372

	Liabilities under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	2,121,047
	
	-
	
	2,121,047


	
	In Baht

	
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	As at  December 31, 2015

	
	
	Floating
	
	Fixed 
	
	No interest
	
	Total

	
	
	interest rate
	
	interest rate
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	
	40,926,416
	
	-
	
	439,154
	
	41,365,570

	Short-term investment
	
	-
	
	-
	
	172,950,073
	
	172,950,073

	Trade and other accounts receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	882,218,513
	
	882,218,513

	Receivable under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	7,270,036
	
	-
	
	7,270,036

	Unbilled receivable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	276,592,491
	
	276,592,491

	Loans to subsidiaries
	
	5,749,708
	
	-
	
	-
	
	5,749,708

	Loans to relates parties
	
	-
	
	-
	
	746,663
	
	746,663

	Long-term investments
	
	-
	
	-
	
	872,626,607
	
	872,626,607

	Financial liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   from financial institutions
	
	154,725
	
	-
	
	-
	
	154,725

	Trade and other payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	497,548,135
	
	497,548,135

	Accrued expenses  
	
	-
	
	-
	
	163,540,063
	
	163,540,063

	Unbilled payable
	
	-
	
	-
	
	132,685,840
	
	132,685,840

	Liabilities under financial lease agreements
	
	-
	
	4,815,743
	
	-
	
	4,815,743




33.5
Foreign currency risk


The exposure of the Company and its subsidiaries to foreign currency risk relates primarily to its trade accounts payable that are denominated in foreign currencies. The Company and its subsidiaries utilizes forward exchange contracts, mostly with maturities of no more than one year, in order to hedge the foreign currency risk related to these payables.



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries have assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are as follows :- 

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statement

	
	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015

	The value of foreign currency assets

- USD
	
	USD
	19 thousand
	
	USD
	49 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities
- USD
	
	USD
	10,781 thousand
	
	USD
	3,463 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities

- SGD
	
	 SGD
	- thousand
	
	SGD
	7 thousand


	
	
	Separate Financial Statement

	
	
	As at December 31, 2016
	
	As at December 31, 2015

	The value of foreign currency assets
- USD
	
	USD
	19 thousand
	
	USD
	49 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities 
- USD
	
	USD
	10,723 thousand
	
	USD
	3,317 thousand

	The value of foreign currency liabilities

- SGD
	
	SGD
	· - thousand
	
	SGD
	7 thousand




As at December 31, 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries had forward exchange contracts of  USD 5.75 million (The Company had forward exchange contracts of USD 5.75 million) with the exchange rates of Baht 34.6565 to Baht 36.60 per USD 1, to be mature within 1 - 12 months.



33.6
Liquidity risk



The Company and its subsidiaries manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to support the Company’s operations as well as securing short-term credit facilities from financial institutions for reserve as necessary and to reduce the impact of fluctuations in cash flow.



33.7
Fair value


A fair value is the amount for which an asset can be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair value is determined by reference to the latest market price or by using an appropriate valuation basis, depending on the nature of the instrument. 



Since the majority of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries are short-term in nature, their fair values are not expected to differ materially from the amounts presented in the statements of financial position. 



The fair values of significant financial assets and financial liabilities do not differ from their carrying values. 

34.
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT



The Company and its subsidiaries uses the market approach to measure their assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting standards, except that the cost approach or income approach is used when there is no active market or when a quoted market price is not available. 

Fair value hierarchy


Level 1 - 
Use of quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 



Level 2 - 
Use of inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (e.g. prices) or indirectly (e.g. derived from prices).

Level 3 - Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows. 



As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries had the following assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value using different levels of inputs as follows :- 

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statements (In Baht)

	
	
	2016

	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total

	Assets measured at fair value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
- Unit trust
	
	-
	
	707,811,168
	
	-
	
	707,811,168

	
	
	

	
	
	Consolidated Financial Statements (In  Baht)

	
	
	2015

	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total

	Assets measured at fair value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
- Unit trust
	
	-
	
	251,671,031
	
	-
	
	251,671,031


	
	
	Separate Financial Statements (In Baht)

	
	
	2016

	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total

	Assets measured at fair value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
- Unit trust
	
	-
	
	612,670,322
	
	-
	
	612,670,322

	
	
	

	
	
	Separate Financial Statements (In Baht)

	
	
	2015

	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	Total

	Assets measured at fair value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current investments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
- Unit trust
	
	-
	
	172,950,073
	
	-
	
	172,950,073



Valuation techniques on fair value and inputs for Level 2 valuations


(a)
The fair value of investments in non-listed investment units on the Stock Exchange of Thailand, 
is calculated by using the net assets value per unit as announced by the fund managers.


During the current period, there were no transfers within the fair value hierarchy.
35.
THE REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE IN THE CURRENT YEAR


The Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) has issued Notifications to mandate the use of accounting standards, financial reporting standards, and interpretations of accounting and financial reporting standards that are revised. 



These revised accounting standards which are effective for the fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2017 are as follows:

	TAS 1 (revised 2016)
	Presentation of Financial Statements

	TAS 2 (revised 2016)
	Inventories

	TAS 7 (revised 2016)
	Statement of Cash Flows

	TAS 8 (revised 2016)
	Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

	TAS 10 (revised 2016)
	Events After the Reporting Period

	TAS 11 (revised 2016)
	Construction Contracts

	TAS 12 (revised 2016)
	Income Taxes

	TAS 16 (revised 2016)
	Property, Plant and Equipment

	TAS 17 (revised 2016)
	Leases

	TAS 18 (revised 2016)
	Revenue

	TAS 19 (revised 2016)
	Employee Benefits

	TAS 20 (revised 2016)
	Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance

	TAS 21 (revised 2016)
	The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

	TAS 23 (revised 2016)
	Borrowing Costs

	TAS 24 (revised 2016)
	Related Party Disclosures

	TAS 26 (revised 2016)
	Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

	TAS 27 (revised 2016)
	Separate Financial Statements

	TAS 28 (revised 2016)
	Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

	TAS 29 (revised 2016)
	Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

	TAS 33 (revised 2016)
	Earnings Per Share

	TAS 34 (revised 2016)
	Interim Financial Reporting

	TAS 36 (revised 2016)
	Impairment of Assets

	TAS 37 (revised 2016)
	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

	TAS 38 (revised 2016)
	Intangible assets

	TAS 40 (revised 2016)
	Investment Property

	TAS 41 (revised 2016)
	Agriculture

	TAS 104 (revised 2016)
	Accounting for Trouble Debt Restructuring

	TAS 105 (revised 2016)
	Accounting for Investments in Debt and Equity Securities

	TAS 107 (revised 2016)
	Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation

	TFRS 2 (revised 2016)
	Share-Based Payment

	TFRS 3 (revised 2016)
	Business Combinations

	TFRS 4 (revised 2016)
	Insurance Contracts

	TFRS 5 (revised 2016)
	Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

	TFRS 6 (revised 2016)
	Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resource

	TFRS 8 (revised 2016)
	Operating Segments

	TFRS 10 (revised 2016)
	Consolidated Financial Statements

	TFRS 11 (revised 2016)
	Joint Arrangements

	TFRS 12 (revised 2016)
	Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

	TFRS 13 (revised 2016)
	Fair Value Measurement

	TSIC 10 (revised 2016)
	Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities

	TSIC 15 (revised 2016)
	Operating Leases - Incentives

	TSIC 25 (revised 2016)
	Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders

	TSIC 27 (revised 2016)
	Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease

	TSIC 29 (revised 2016)
	Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosure

	TSIC 31 (revised 2016)
	Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

	TSIC 32 (revised 2016)
	Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs

	TFRIC 1 (revised 2016)
	Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities

	TFRIC 4 (revised 2016)
	Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

	TFRIC 5 (revised 2016)
	Right to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

	TFRIC 7 (revised 2016)
	Applying the Restatement Approach under TAS 29 (revised 2016) Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics

	TFRIC 10 (revised 2016)
	Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

	TFRIC 12 (revised 2016)
	Service Concession Arrangements

	TFRIC 13 (revised 2016)
	Customer Loyalty Programmes

	TFRIC 14 (revised 2016)
	TAS 19 (revised 2016)-The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

	TFRIC 15 (revised 2016)
	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

	TFRIC 17 (revised 2016)
	Distributions of Non - cash Assets to Owners

	TFRIC 18 (revised 2016)
	Transfers of Assets from Customers

	TFRIC 20 (revised 2016)
	Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

	TFRIC 21 (revised 2016)
	Levies



The management of the Company and its subsidiaries believe that these accounting standards, financial reporting standards, accounting standard interpretations and financial reporting standards interpretations which are revised will not have any significant impact on the financial statements for the year when they are initially applied.

36.
AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on Febuary 28, 2017.

